Introduction

Three essential characteristics of financial accounting:

(1) Identification, measurement, and communication of financial information about (2) economic entities to (3) interested parties.
Financial Statements

(1) Income Statement reports the operational result for a given period of time. IDEA: Income from continue operation, Discontinue operation, Extraordinary items, Accounting method change. 

(2) Statement of Retain Earnings reports the change in each stockholder's equity account and in total stockholder's equity during the accounting period. 

(3) Balance Sheet reports the financial position at certain date (i.e., fiscal year end) and provides a basis for (a) computing rates of return, (b) evaluating the capital structure of the enterprise, and (c) assessing its liquidity and financial flexibility.

(4) Statement of Cash Flow provides relevant information about the cash receipts and cash disbursements of an enterprise during a accounting period. 

Financial Reporting: 

Some financial information is better provided, or can be provided only, by means of financial reporting other than financial statements.

Examples: President's letter or supplementary schedules in annual reports, prospectuses, reports filed with government agencies, news releases.

Objectives of Financial Reporting are to provide

1. information that is useful in investment and credit decisions,

2. information that is useful in assessing cash flow prospects, and

3. information about enterprise resource, claims to those resources, and changes in them.

Conceptual Framework of Financial Accounting:

Underlying Assumptions

1. Time-period. Fiscal year or quarter. Accruals and Deferrals.

2. Separate Entity.

3. Continuity (Going Concern). Accrual accounting.

4. Unit of Measure. Cannot be measured then cannot be reported.

Qualitative Criteria:

1. Relevance. Timeliness, predictive value, feedback.

2. Understandable.

3. Reliability. Representational faithfulness (substance over form), verifiability, freedom from bias.

4. Comparability: consistency and uniformity. 

5. Conservatism. Recognize contingent loss but not contingent gain.

Measurement Conventions:

1. Historical Cost: Objective but may be useless in valuation. 

2. Revenue Recognition: Recognize when it is earned.

3. Matching: Matching cost with revenue.

4. Full Disclosure.

Basic Concept of Valuation

The value of a firm at any point of time should be equal to the present value of its future cash flow. 

PV = FV ( (1+ r) n 
or 
FV = PV ( (1+ r) n
PV: Present value; FV: Future value; r: discount rate; n: number of periods 

Fixed Income Case (Debt Security Investment): In such case, the future value is fixed but the discount rate may change over time.

Example: assuming that you make a term deposit of $100 for two year, with annual rate of return of 10%, then at the end of the 2nd year you will have a terminal value of $121.

$100 ( 1.1 = $110 (end of 1st year);

$110 ( 1.1 = $121 (end of 2nd year)

When rate of return over the two years is fixed, your investment return is protected in a way that you are guaranteed to receive at least a fixed income of $21 over the two years term. You may able to earn high rate of return if the prevailing discount rate is below 10% at any point of time during the term. For example if the prevailing discount rate is 8% at the end of first year, then you can sell your term deposit for $112.04 (i.e., $121 ( 1.08). Which is higher than the $110 that your are guaranteed at the end of the first year. If the prevailing discount rate is higher than 10% at the end of the first year, then you can still be guaranteed to receive $121 at the end of the two years term by holding it. 

Example 1 (Perfect Accounting): Everything being equal as in the above fixed income example. Assuming that at the end of the first year, the prevailing discount rate is 5%. Applying Discount of Future Cash Flow model. We know that the market value at the end of first year is

Present value (Market Value) = FV/(1+0.05) = $121/1.05 = $115.24
By applying the strategic accounting-based valuation model:   

Market Value = Book Value + Present Value of Extra Earnings Power

Market value = $110 + [$121 - ($110 ( 1.05)] / 1.05 = $110 + 5.24 = $115.24
Book value is defined as the net equity book value or the difference between total assets and total liabilities.

Extra Earnings Power is defined as the difference between actual earnings and expected normal earnings. In the above example, the book value at the end of 1st year is $110 and the prevailing discount rate is 5%. Its expected normal earnings is equal to Book value times (1 + discount rate) or $110 ( 1.05 = $115.5.  The Extra Earnings Power is the $121 - $115.5 = $5.5 and its present value is $5.5/1.05 = $5.24.
Clearly, we obtained same results from both models. This illustration shows the valuation perspective of accounting information. 

Example 2 (Conservative Accounting):

Assuming the book value at the end of 1st year is $105 and all other things being equal. Then applying accounting-based valuation model, we have

Market value = $105 + [$121- ($105 ( 1.05)] / 1.05 = $105 + 10.24 = $115.24
Again we get the same market value from both models.

Example 3 (Liberal Accounting):

Assuming the book value at the end of 1st year is $125 and all other things being equal. Then applying accounting-based valuation model, we have

Market value = $125 + [$121- ($125 ( 1.05)] / 1.05 = $125 + (-9.76) = $115.24
Accounting-based valuation model suggests that two components (i.e., equity book value and extra earnings power) obtained or estimated from financial statements have valuation implication. 

Financial Accounting System Feature: Accrual Accounting

Non-discretionary Accrual: Accrual accounting recognition of revenue when earned (i.e., when goods are delivered or service is performed) and expenses when incurred. They are recorded at the end of an accounting period even though cash has not been received or paid.

Discretionary Accrual: Accounting cost or expense changed easily by management decision. Analyst should note whether the current level of discretionary expense is consistent with previous trends and the company's present and future requirements.  Example: write-off or write-down of asset value.

Reversing Nature of Accrual Accounting and Cash Accounting:

The accounting numbers as reported on Income Statement and Balance Sheet are based on Accrual accounting system. 

For example: A company purchases a machine for $100,000, and decides to amortize $100,000 capital expenditure over a 5 years period (assuming no salvage value and straight-line method is used). Also assume the company has annual revenue of $200,000 for the first year of operation and only cost other than the cost of machine is labor cost of $150,000. Assuming that revenue will grow at 10 percent per year and labor cost will grow at 5% per year for the next 4 year.

Capitalize Machine Expenditure:  Straight-Line Amortization.

	
	1st year-end
	2nd year-end
	3rd year-end
	4th year-end
	5th year-end

	A. Revenue
	$200,000
	$220,000
	$242,000
	$266,200
	$292,820

	Labor cost
	$150,000
	$157,500
	$165,375
	$173,644
	$182,326

	Amortization
	$20,000
	$20,000
	$20,000
	$20,000
	$20,000

	Operating Income
	$30,000
	$42,500
	$56,625
	$72,556
	$90,494


Expend Machine Expenditure:

	
	1st year-end
	2nd year-end
	3rd year-end
	4th year-end
	5th year-end

	B. Revenue
	$200,000
	$220,000
	$242,000
	$266,200
	$292,820

	Labor cost
	$150,000
	$157,500
	$165,375
	$173,644
	$182,326

	Expense
	$100,000
	$0
	$0
	$0
	$0

	Operating Income
	-$50,000
	$62,500
	$76,625
	$92,556
	$110,494


Aggressive Accounting (Revenue Recognition)

Ways to manipulate an increase in reported income through revenue recognition:

Deliver the goods or perform the service:

1. Borrow future revenue: Accounting principles state that firms cannot recognize any revenue before goods are delivered or service is performed. However, many firms purposely construct a complicated business agreement to fasten the recognition of revenue.

Example: A firm sells equipment (say cost of goods sold is $500,000) for $1,000,000 on January 1, 2002. In the contract, a continuous maintenance service, without additional consideration, is required for a period of 3 years (2002, 2003, and 2004). The accounting question regarding revenue recognition in such a case is how much of the $1,000,000 should be recognized as sales revenue in 2002 and how much should be recognized as service revenue for the three years service period. Without recognizing appropriate unearned revenue (i.e., liability), the firm would inflate its revenue and reported income in 2002.

Accounting entry (Fail to record unearned service revenue):

Case 1: 

Jan. 1 2002


Cash (Accounts Receivable or Notes Receivable)
$1,000,000



Sales Revenue






$1,000,000

Accounting Entry (Recognize Unearned Service Revenue as a liability) 

Case 2: 

Jan. 1 2002

Cash (Accounts Receivable)



$1,000,000



Sales Revenue






$700,000



Unearned Service Revenue




$300,000

December 31, 2002 (2003, 2004)


Unearned Service Revenue



$100,000



Service Revenue





$100,000

2. Fail to separate the recognition for the sales and interest revenue.

Example: If in the above example, the firm is receiving Notes Receivable (says 1.5 years) instead of receiving Cash for that transaction, then without recognizing the Unearned Interest Revenue the firm again can inflate its reported income for 2002.

Accounting Entry (Recognize unearned interest revenue but use unrealistic discount rate of 5%)

Case 3: 

Jan. 1 2002

Notes Receivable




$1,000,000



Sales Revenue






$625,000



Unearned Revenue





$300,000



Discount on N/Rs (Unearned Interest Revenue)

$  75,000

December 31, 2002 (2003, 2004)


Unearned Revenue




$100,000



Service Revenue





$100,000

December 31, 2002

Discount on N/Rs (Unearned Interest Revenue)
$  50,000



Interest Revenue





$  50,000

3. Use unrealistic discount rate in computing the Unearned Interest Revenue.

Example: If the firm use discount rate of 5% in its computation for the Unearned Interest Revenue, but information from the financial reporting suggest that its cost of debt is 10%, then again the firm may able to inflate its reported income at the time of sale.

Accounting Entry (use realistic discount rate of 10%) 

Case 4: 

Jan. 1 2002

Notes Receivable




$1,000,000



Sales Revenue






$550,000



Unearned Revenue





$300,000



Discount on N/Rs (Unearned Interest Revenue)

$150,000

December 31, 2002 (2003, 2004)


Unearned Revenue




$100,000



Service Revenue





$100,000

December 31, 2002


Discount on N/Rs (Unearned Interest Revenue)
$100,000



Interest Revenue





$100,000

Revenue recognition

	
	2002
	2003
	2004

	Revenue Case 1
	$1,000,000
	$0
	$0

	Revenue Case 2
	$800,000
	$100,000
	$100,000

	Revenue Case 3
	$775,000
	$125,000
	$100,000

	Revenue Case 4
	$750,000
	$150,000
	$100,000


Case 1: Fail to separate the revenue recognition for sales revenue, service revenue and interest revenue.

Case 2: Recognize the deferred service revenue but fail to separate the revenue recognition for sales revenue and interest revenue.

Case 3: Recognize the deferred service and deferred interest revenue but using unrealistic discount rate in determining the unearned interest revenue. 

Case 4: Correct accounting for revenue recognition.

Additional problem: Fail to match related expenses with the sales revenue in the same accounting period.

Example: Warranty expense. Assume that, based on past operating experience, $50,000 (i.e., 5% of sales revenue) warranty expense is expected to be incurred in the three years covered by product warranty.

Case 5: 

Jan. 1 2002

Notes Receivable




$1,000,000



Sales Revenue






$550,000



Unearned Revenue





$300,000



Discount on N/Rs (Unearned Interest Revenue)

$150,000

December 31, 2002 (2003, 2004)


Unearned Revenue




$100,000



Service Revenue





$100,000

December 31, 2002


Discount on N/Rs (Unearned Interest Revenue)
$100,000



Interest Revenue





$100,000

December 31, 2002


Warranty Expenses




$  50,000


Estimated Liability under Warranty


$  50,000
Additional problem: Fail to recognize the bad debt expense (uncollectible accounts) related with the receivables.

Example: Bad debt expense. Assume that, based on past operating experience, $30,000 (i.e., 3% of Notes receivable) Bad debt expense is expected to be incurred in the future.

Case 6: 

Jan. 1 2002

Notes Receivable




$1,000,000



Sales Revenue






$550,000



Unearned Revenue





$300,000



Discount on N/Rs (Unearned Interest Revenue)

$150,000

December 31, 2002 (2003, 2004)


Unearned Revenue




$100,000



Service Revenue





$100,000

December 31, 2002


Discount on N/Rs (Unearned Interest Revenue)
$100,000



Interest Revenue





$100,000

December 31, 2002


Warranty Expenses




$  50,000



Estimated Liability under Warranty



$  50,000

December 31, 2002

Bad Debt Expense




$  30,000



Allowance for Uncollectible Account


$  30,000
Partial Income Statement (2002)

	
	Case 1
	Case 2
	Case 3
	Case 4
	Case 5
	Case 6

	Sales Revenue
	$1,000,000
	$700,000
	$625,000
	$550,000
	$550,000
	$550,000

	Cost of Goods Sold
	$500,000
	$500,000
	$500,000
	$500,000
	$500,000
	$500,000

	Gross Profit
	$500,000
	$200,000
	$125,000
	$  50,000
	$  50,000
	$  50,000

	Service Revenue
	$0
	$100,000
	$100,000
	$100,000
	$100,000
	$100,000

	Interest Revenue
	$0
	$0
	$  50,000
	$100,000
	$100,000
	$100,000

	Warranty Expense
	$0
	$0
	$0
	$0
	($50,000)
	($50,000)

	Bad Debt Expense
	$0
	$0
	$0
	$0
	$0
	($30,000)

	Net Income
	$500,000
	$300,000
	$275,000
	$250,000
	$200,000
	$170,000


Understanding Financial Reporting

Financial Statements: An Overview

1. The Balance Sheet shows the financial positions-assets, liabilities, and owners' equity-of the firm on a particular date, such as the end of a quarter or a year.

2. The Income Statement presents the results of operations-revenues, expenses, net profit or loss, net profit or loss per share-for the accounting period.

3. The statement of owners' equity reconciles the beginning and ending balances of all accounts that appear in the owners' equity section of the Balance Sheet.

4. The Statement of Cash Flows provides information about the cash inflows and outflows from operating, financing, and investing activities during an accounting period.

5. Notes to financial statements: Immediately following the four financial statements is the section entitled Notes to the financial statements. The notes are, in fact, an integral part of the statements and must be read in order to understand the presentation of the face of each financial statement. The first note to the financial statements provides a summary of the firm's accounting policies. If there have been changes in any accounting policies during the reporting period, these changes will be explained and the impact quantified in the financial statement note. Other notes present detail about particular accounts, such as financial instruments EPS.

6. Auditor's Report: Related to the financial statements and notes is the report of an independent auditor. Management has responsibility for the preparation of financial statements, including the notes, and the auditor's report attests to the fairness of the presentation. An Unqualified report states the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position, the operating results, and the cash flows for the accounting period, in conformity with GAAP. (1) A departure from GAAP will result in a qualified opinion and the use of the following language in the opinion sentence: In our opinion, except for the (nature of the departure explained), the financial statements present fairly. (2) If the departure from GAAP affects numerous accounts and financial statement relationships, then an adverse opinion is rendered, which states that the financial statements have not been presented fairly in accordance with GAAP. (3) A scope limitation means that the extent to the audit work has been limited. This will result in a qualified opinion unless the limitation is so material as to require a disclaimer of opinion, which means the auditor cannot evaluate the fairness of the statements and therefore express no opinion on them. 

7. Other Required Information: SEC requires the following information be included in the 10-K report. (1) Management Discussion and Analysis (MD&A): MD&A contains information that cannot be found in the financial data. The content of this section includes coverage of any favorable or unfavorable trends and significant events or uncertainties in the areas of liquidity, capital resources, and results of operations. (2) A five-year summary of selected financial data (net sales, income or loss from continuing operations, income or loss from continuing operations per common share, total assets, long-term obligations and redeemable preferred share, and cash dividends per common share). (3) Market data (high and low share prices) on common share each quarter during the last two years.

A Checklist for Earnings Quality

Sales

1. Allowance for doubtful accounts.

2. Price vs. volume changes.

3. Real vs. nominal growth.

Cost of Goods Sold

1. Cost flow assumption for inventory.

2. Loss recognition on write-downs for inventory.

3. Timing of recognition.

Operating Expenses

1. Discretionary: R&D, repair and maintenance, advertising and marketing.

2. Depreciation, amortization and depletion: methods and estimates.

3. Pension accounting-interest rate assumption.

4. Increase (decrease) in capital expenditure.

Non-operating revenue and expenses

1. Gains (losses) from sales of assets.

2. Interest income.

3. Investment income.

4. Gain (losses) from debt refinancing.

5. Loss recognition on write-downs of assets.

6. Accounting methods changes

7. Extraordinary items.

Other Issues

1. Material changes in number of shares outstanding.

2. Acquisitions and dispositions.

The Analysis of Financial Statements

Objectives of Analysis

Creditor:

1. What is the borrowing cause? What do the financial statements reveal about the reason a firm has requested a loan or the purchase of goods on credit?

2. What is the firm's capital structure? How much debt is currently outstanding? How well has debt been serviced in the past?

3. What will be the source of debt repayment? How well does the firm manage working capital? Is the firm generating cash from operations?

Investors:

1. What is the firm performance record, and what are the future expectations? What is its record with regard to growth and stability of earnings? How much of cash flows is from operations?

2. How much risk is inherent in firm's existing capital structure? What are the expected returns, given the firm's current condition and future outlook?

3. How successful does the firm compete in its industry, and how well positioned is the firm to hold or improve its competitive position?

Sources of Information

1. Auditor's report: Most auditor's reports are unqualified, which means that in the opinion of the auditor the financial statements present fairly the financial position, the results of operations, and cash flows for the periods covered by financial statements. A qualified report, an adverse opinion, or a disclaimer of opinion is rare and therefore suggests that a careful evaluation of the firm be made. An unqualified opinion with explanatory language should be reviewed carefully.

2. Management Discussion and Analysis (MD&A): Management must disclose any favorable or unfavorable trends and any significant events or uncertainties that relate to the firm's historical or prospective financial condition and operations (Full and timely disclosure).

3. Supplementary Schedules: Certain supplementary schedules are required for inclusion in an annual report and are frequently helpful to the analysis. For example, firms that operate in several unrelated lines of business provide a breakdown of key financial figures by operating segment.

4. Notes to financial statements: The first note to the financial statements provides a summary of the firm's accounting policies. If there have been changes in any accounting policies during the reporting period, these changes will be explained and the impact quantified in the financial statement note. Other notes present detail about particular accounts, such as financial instruments EPS.

5. Form 10-K and Form 10-Q: Form 10-K is an annual document filed with the SEC by publicly listed firms and contains much of the same information as the annual report issued to shareholders. It also shows additional detail such as schedules listing information about management, a description of material litigation and government al actions, and elaboration of some financial statement disclosures. Form 10-Q, a less-extensive document, provides quarterly financial information.

6. Other Sources: There is a considerable body of material outside of the corporate annual report that can contribute to analysis of financial statements. 

The following sources provide comparative statistical ratios to help determine a firm's relative position within its industry:

1. Dun & Bradstreet Information Services, Industry Norms and Key Business Ratios. Murray Hill, NJ.

2. Robert Morris Associates, Annual Statement Studies, Philadelphia, PA.

3. Standard & Poor's Corporation, Ratings Handbook and Industry Surveys, New York, NY. 

4. Gale Research Inc., Manufacturing U.S.A. Industry Analyses. Detroit, MI.    

Also helpful to the analyst are the following references, which contain useful investment and financial information about particular companies, industries:

1. Moody's Investor Service, Moody's Manuals and Moody's Handbooks. New York, NY.

2. Standard & Poor's Corporation, Corporation Records, The Outlook, Stock Reports, and Stock Guides. New York, NY.

3. Value Line Inc., The Value Line Investment Survey. New York, NY.

4. Zack's Investment Research Inc., Earnings Forecast. Chicago, IL.

5. Gale Research Inc., Market Share Report. Detroit, MI.

6. Dow Jones-Irwin, The Financial Analyst's Handbook. Homewood, IL.

7. Thompson Financial Corporation: First Call Thompson, Primark Financial Information Division, Primark Financial Analytics Division (I/B/E/S).

The following web sites contain useful investment and financial information, including company profile and stock prices:

1. http://www.sdgar.com
2. http://www.sec.gov/edgarhp.htm
3. http://quote.yahoo.com
4. http://www.cnnfn.com
5. http://www.cnbc.com
Chapter 3: The Accounting Information System: Accounting Cycle

A. Basic Accounting Terminology

1. Event: An event generally is the source or cause of changes in assets, liabilities, and equity. Events may be internal or external.

2. Transaction: An external event involving a transfer or exchange between two or more entities.

3. Permanent and Temporary Accounts: Asset, liability and equity accounts are permanent accounts. Revenue (gain) and expense (loss) accounts are temporary accounts.

4. Ledger: A general ledger is a collection of all the assets, liabilities, equity, revenue, and expense accounts. A subsidiary ledger contains the details related to a given general ledger account.

5. Journal: The book of original entry where transactions and selected other events are initial recorded.

6. Posting: The process of transferring the essential facts and figures from the book or original entry to the ledger accounts.

7. Trial Balance: A list of all open accounts in the ledger and their balances. Trial balance, adjusted trial balance, and post-closing trial balance.

8. Adjusting Entries: Entries made at the end of an accounting period to bring all accounts up to date on accrual accounting basis so that correct financial statements can be prepared.

9. Closing Entries: The formal process by which all temporary accounts are reduced to zero and the net income or net loss is determined and transferred to equity accounts.

B. Basic Accounting Equation:

 Debit (Increase) 



     Credit (Increase)

Assets 


= 

Liabilities + Owner Equity



Expense




Revenue
C. The Accounting Cycle:

Step 1: Identification and Measurement of Transactions and Other Events.

Step 2: Journalization.

Step 3: Posting. General Ledger (monthly), Subsidiary ledgers (daily).

Step 4: Trial balance.

Step 5: Adjustments: Accruals, Prepayments, Estimated Items.

Step 6: Adjusted Trial Balance.

Step 7: Statements Preparation.

Step 8: Closing Temporary Accounting (i.e., Revenues, Gains, Expenses, and Losses)

Step 9: Post-Closing Trial Balance (optional).

Step 10: Reversing Entries (Optional).

Step 1: Identification: Transaction and events for 2001

(1). Jan. 2, Owners investment $100,000 in exchange for common shares.

(2). February 1, Borrow $50,000 3 years commercial loan at 12% annually, interests payable annually.

(3). February 28, Purchase office equipment priced at $6,000, giving a 10% promissory note, maturity date July 1, 2001, in exchange.

(4). March 2, Receive $4,000 cash for services rendered.

(5). April 11, Purchase office supplies $1,000 on account.

(6). May 10, Pay $1,000 in cash for the office supplies purchased on April 11.

(7). June 15, Pay cash $25,000 for a sedan that will be used for business travel.

(8). July 1, Pay off a short-term liability of $6,200.

(9). July 1, Rent office space at annual rental fee of $12,000, the full amount of annual rental fee was paid in advance. 

(10). August 15, performed service and send invoice of $30,000 to client for service rendered.

(11). September 15, Collect cash of $30,000 from client (see August 15).

(12). November 15, Signed an $100,000 service agreement with one client, the service period will be started on February 1, 2002. 

(13). November 30, Receive $30,000 cash as down payment for service agreement signed on November 15. 

(14). December 31, determine that employee' salary expense for the year 2001 is $20,000 and will be paid on Jan. 10, 2002. 

(15). Placed order for $2,000 additional office supplies to be delivered on January 10, 2002. (Assuming the purchase order is based on F.O.B. Destination). 

Step 2: Journal Entries:

Jan. 2, Owners investment $100,000 in exchange for common shares.


Cash


$100,000


Asset Increase



Common Shares
$100,000

Owner Equity Increase

February 1, Borrow $50,000 3 years commercial loan at 12% annually, interests payable annually.


Cash
$50,000




Asset Increase



Loan Payable
$50,000


Liability Increase

February 28, Purchase office equipment priced at $6,000, giving a 10% promissory note, maturity date July 1, 2001, in exchange.


Equipment


$6,000


Asset Increase



Notes Payable


$6,000

Liability Increase

March 2, Receive $4,000 cash for services rendered.


Cash



$4,000


Asset Increase



Service Revenue

$4,000

Revenue Increase

April 11, Purchase office supplies $1,000 on account.


Office Supplies

$1,000


Asset Increase 



Accounts Payable

$1,000

Liability Increase

May 10, Pay $1,000 in cash for the office supplies purchased on April 11.


Accounts Payable

$1,000


Liability Decrease



Cash



$1,000

Asset Decrease

June 15, Pay cash $25,000 for a sedan that will be used for business travel.


Sedan


$25,000


Asset Increase



Cash


$25,000

Asset Decrease

July 1, Pay off a short-term liability of $6,200 (see Feb. 28).


Notes Payable

$6,000



Liability Decrease

Interest Expense
     200



Expense Increase



Cash


$6,200


Asset Decrease

July 1, Rent office space at annual rental fee of $12,000, the full amount of annual rental fee was paid in advance. 


Prepaid Rent

$12,000


Asset Increase



Cash


$12,000

Asset Decrease

August 15, performed service and send invoice of $30,000 to client for service rendered.

Accounts Receivable
$30,000


Asset Increase


Service Revenue
$30,000

Revenue Increase 

September 15, Collect cash of $30,000 from client (see August 15).

Cash


$30,000


Asset Increase


Accounts Receivable
$30,000

Asset Decrease

November 15, Signed an $100,000 service agreement with one client, the service period will be started on February 1, 2002.




NO Entry
November 30, Receive $30,000 cash as down payment for service agreement signed on November 15.


Cash


$30,000


Asset Increase



Unearned Revenue
$30,000

Liability Increase

December 31, determine that employee' salary expense for the year 2001 is $20,000 and will be paid on Jan. 10, 2002. 

Salary Expense
$20,000


Expense Increase


Salary Payable

$20,000

Liability Increase

Placed order for $2,000 additional office supplies to be delivered on January 10, 2002. (Assuming the purchase order is based on F.O.B. Destination). 





NO Entry

Step 3: Posting
	Cash

	Beg.
	
	
	

	1/2
	$100,000
	
	

	2/1
	$50,000
	 
	 

	3/2
	$4,000
	
	

	
	
	$1,000
	5/10

	
	
	$25,000
	6/15

	
	
	$6,200
	7/1

	
	 
	$12,000
	7/1

	 9/15
	$30,000
	
	

	 11/30
	$30,000
	
	

	End
	$169,800 
	
	


	Accounts Receivable

	Beg.
	
	
	

	8/15
	$30,000
	
	 

	 
	 
	$30,000
	9/15

	End
	$0
	
	


	Prepaid Rent

	Beg.
	
	
	

	7/1
	$12,000
	
	 

	End
	$12,000
	
	


	Office Supplies

	Beg.
	
	
	

	4/11
	$1,000
	
	 

	End
	$1,000
	
	


	Office Equipment

	Beg.
	
	
	

	2/28
	$6,000
	
	 

	End
	$6,000
	
	


	Sedan

	Beg.
	
	
	

	6/15
	$25,000
	
	 

	End
	$25,000
	
	


	Accounts Payable

	Beg.
	
	 
	

	
	
	$1,000
	4/11

	5/10
	$1,000
	 
	 

	End
	 
	$0
	


	Salary Payable

	Beg.
	
	 
	

	
	
	$20,000
	12/31

	End
	 
	$20,000
	


	Unearned Revenue

	Beg.
	
	
	

	 
	 
	$30,000
	11/30

	End
	 
	$30,000
	


	Notes Payable

	Beg.
	
	
	

	 
	
	$6,000
	2/28

	 7/1
	$6,000
	 
	

	End
	 
	$0
	


	Loan Payable

	Beg.
	
	 
	

	 
	 
	$50,000
	2/1

	End
	 
	$50,000
	


	Common Shares

	Beg.
	
	
	

	 
	
	$100,000
	1/2

	End
	 
	$100,000
	


	Service Revenue

	
	 
	$4,000
	3/2

	 
	 
	$30,000
	8/15

	End
	
	$34,000
	


	Interest Expense

	7/1
	$200
	 
	 

	End
	$200
	
	


	Salary Expense

	 12/31
	$20,000
	 
	 

	End
	$20,000
	
	


Step 4: Trial balance.

Trial Balance

December 31, 2001

   Debit

   Credit

Cash






$169,800

Accounts Receivable




             0

Prepaid Rent





    12,000

Office Supplies




      1,000

Office Equipment




      6,000

Sedan






    25,000

Accounts Payable






$           0

Salary Payable







    20,000

Unearned Revenue






    30,000

Notes Payable







             0

Loan Payable







    50,000

Common Shares






  100,000

Service Revenue






    34,000

Interest Expense




         200

Salary Expense




    20,000








$234,000
$234,000
Step 5: Adjustments

1. Accrued Interest for 3 years 12% commercial loan, borrowed on February 1, 2001.

Interest Expense
$5,500



Expense Increase


Interest Payable
$5,500


Liability Increase

2. The estimated depreciation expense for office equipment is $1,000.

Depreciation 

  Expense-Equipment
$1,000



Expense Increase


Accumulated 

  Depreciation-Equipment
$1,000

Asset Decrease

3. The book value for the office supplies on hand on December 31, 2001 is $250.

Supplies Expense
$750



Expense Increase


Office Supplies
$750


Asset Decrease

4. The estimated depreciation expense for sedan is $10,000.

Depreciation 

  Expense-Sedan
$10,000


Expense Increase


Accumulated 

  
  Depreciation-Sedan
$10,000

Asset Decrease

5. Accrued rent expense is $6,000.

Rent Expense

$6,000



Expense Increase


Prepaid Rent

$6,000


Asset Decrease

Step 6: Adjusted Trial balance.

Adjusted Trial Balance

December 31, 2001

   Debit

   Credit

Cash






$169,800

Accounts Receivable




             0

Prepaid Rent





      6,000

Office Supplies




         250

Office Equipment




      6,000

Accumulated Depreciation-Equipment



      1,000

Sedan






    25,000

Accumulated Depreciation-Sedan




    10,000

Accounts Payable






$           0

Interest Payable






      5,500

Salary Payable







    20,000

Unearned Revenue






    30,000

Notes Payable







             0

Loan Payable







    50,000

Common Shares






  100,000

Service Revenue






    34,000

Interest Expense




      5,700

Salary Expense




    20,000

Supplies Expense




         750

Depreciation Expense-Equipment


      1,000

Depreciation Expense-Sedan



    10,000

Rent Expense





      6,000








$250,500
$250,500
Step 7: Statements Preparation.

Income Statement

For The Period Ended December 31, 2001

Revenue:


Service Revenue






$34,000

Expenses:


Interest Expense




      5,700

Salary Expense




    20,000

Supplies Expense




         750

Depreciation Expense-Equipment


      1,000

Depreciation Expense-Sedan



    10,000

Rent Expense





      6,000
$43,450
Net Loss 








 ($9,450)
Statement of Retained Earnings

For The Period Ended December 31, 2001

Beginning Retained Earnings






 $          0

Less Net Loss








  ($9,450)
Dividends Paid







             0

Ending Balance







  ($9,450)
Balance Sheet

December 31, 2001

Assets:

Cash








$169,800

Accounts Receivable






             0

Prepaid Rent







      6,000

Office Supplies






         250

Office Equipment



      6,000

Accumulated Depreciation-Equipment
      1,000

      5,000

Sedan





    25,000

Accumulated Depreciation-Sedan

    10,000

    15,000










$196,050

Liabilities

Accounts Payable



$           0

Interest Payable



      5,500

Salary Payable




    20,000

Unearned Revenue



    30,000

Notes Payable




             0

Loan Payable




    50,000

$105,500

Owners Equity

Common Shares



  100,000


Deficit





     (9,450)

    90,550











$196,050
Step 8: Closing Temporary Accounting


Service Revenue
$34,000



Income Summary


$34,000


Income Summary
$43,450



Interest Expense


$  5,700

Salary Expense


  20,000

Supplies Expense


       750

Depreciation Expense-Equipment
    1,000

Depreciation Expense-Sedan

  10,000

Rent Expense



    6,000


Deficit 

$  9,450

Income Summary


$  9,450

Chapter 4: Income Statement

C. Usefulness of the Income Statement

1. Evaluate firm's past performance and profitability.

2. Provide a basis for predicting future performance.

3. Help access the risk or uncertainty of achieving future cash flows.

D. Limitation of the Income Statement

1. Items that cannot be measured reliably are omitted.

2. Income numbers are affected by the accounting methods employed.

3. Income measurement involves the use of estimates.

E. Quality of Earnings

In generally, users perceive that firms employ conservative accounting methods and estimations in preparing financial statements have higher quality of earnings.

F. Format of the Income Statement

Net income results from revenue, expense, gain, and loss transaction. These transactions are summarized in the income statement. This view of the income statement is transaction based because it focuses on the income-related activities that have occurred during the period. The most common alternative to the transaction approach is the capital maintenance approach to income measurement. Under this approach, income for he period is determined based on the change in equity, after adjusting for capital contributions and distributions.

1. Single-Step Income Statement:

Example:

Name of Company

Income Statement

For the Year Ended December 31. 2001

Revenues


Net Sales






$2,972,413


Dividends Revenue





       98,500


Rental Revenue





       72,910

Total Revenues





$3,143,823

Expenses


Cost Of Goods Sold





$1,982,541


Selling Expenses





     453,028


Administrative Expenses




     350,771


Interest Expenses





     126,060


Income Tax Expenses





       66,934

Total Expenses





$2,979,334
Net Income







$   164,489
Earnings Per Common Share





         $1.74
2. Multiple-Step Income Statement

Example:

Name of Company

Income Statement

For the Year Ended December 31. 2001
Sales Revenue


Sales








$3,053,081


Less: Sales Discount




$     24,241


Less: Sales Return & Allowance



       56,427
       80,668

Net Sales Revenue






$2,972,413

Cost of Goods Sold








Merchandise Inventory, 1/1/2001



$   461,219


Purchase



$1,989,693


Less: Purchase Discount


       19,270

Net Purchase



  1,970,423


Freight and Transportation-in

       40,612
$2,011,035

Total Merchandise Available for Sale


  2,472,254


Less: Merchandise Inventory, 12/31/2001


     489,713


Cost of Goods Sold





  1,982,541
Gross Profit on Sales







     989,872

Operating Expenses

     Selling Expense


Sales Salaries and Commissions

$   202,644


Sales Office Salaries


       59,200


Travel
and Entertainment

       48,940


Advertising



       38,315


Freight and Transportation-out

       41,209


Shipping Supplies and Expenses

       24,712


Postage and Stationary


       16,788


Amortization of Sales Equipment

         9,005


Telephone and Internet Expense

       12,215
$   453,028

     Administrative Expenses


Officers' salary



     186,000


Office Salary



       61,200


Legal and Professional Service

       23,721


Utility Expenses



       23,275


Insurance Expenses


       17,029


Amortization of Building


       18,059


Amortization of Office Equipment

       16,000


Stationery, Supplies, and Postage

         2,875


Miscellaneous Office Expenses

         2,612
$   350,771
     803,799
Income From Operations







     186,073

Other Revenue and Gains


Dividend Revenue




       98,500


Rental Revenue





       72,910
     171,410










     357,483

Other Expenses and Losses


Interest on Bonds and Notes





     126,060
Income Before Income Tax






     231,423


Income Tax







       66,934
Net Income For the Year







$   164,489
Earning Per Common Shares






         $1.74
Schedule of Cost of Goods Sold

Direct Materials:


Beginning raw materials inventory


$100,000


Add: Net Purchases of raw materials

 
$500,000

Raw material available for use


$600,000


Deduct: Ending raw material inventory
 
$150,000

Raw material used in production




$450,000

Direct Labor








$  60,000

Manufacturing Overhead:

Insurance, factory




$    5,000


Indirect labor





$  25,000


Machine rental




$  80,000


Utility, factory





$  12,000


Supplies, factory




$    3,000


Depreciation, factory




$120,000


Property taxes, factory



$    5,000
Total overhead costs







$250,000
Total manufacturing costs:






$760,000

Add: Beginning work in process





$120,000
Total Manufacturing Cost to Account for




$880,000

Deduct: Ending work in process inventory




$150,000
Cost of goods manufactured






$730,000 

Add: Beginning Finished Goods 





$250,000
Cost of Goods available for sale





$980,000

Deduct: ending Finished Goods Inventory




$120,000
Cost of Goods Sold







$860,000
G. Income Statement Sections:

IDEA: Income from continuing operation, Discontinued operation, Extraordinary items, Accounting method change.

1. Continuing Operations

(a). Operating Section: A report of the revenues and expenses of the company's principal operations.

(1) Sales Revenue: A subsection presenting sales, discounts, allowances, returns, and other related information. Its purpose is to arrive at the net amount of sales revenue.

(2) Cost of Goods Sold: A subsection that shows the cost of goods that were sold to produce the sales.

(3) Selling Expenses Section. A subsection that lists expenses resulting from the company's efforts to make sales.

(4) Administrative or General Expenses: A subsection reporting expenses of general administration.

(b). Non-operating Section: A report of revenues and expenses resulting from the company's secondary or auxiliary activities. In addition, special gains and losses that are infrequent in occurring or unusual in nature, but not both, are normally reported in this section. 

(1) Other Revenues and Gains: A list of the revenues earned or gains incurred, generally net of related expenses, from nonoperating transactions.

(2) Other Expenses and Losses: A list of expenses or losses incurred, generally net of any related incomes, from nonoperating transactions.

(c). Income Tax: A short section reporting income taxes levied on income from continuing operations.

2. Discontinued Operations: Material gains or losses resulting from the disposition of a segment of business (net of taxes).

3. Extraordinary Items: A typical and infrequent material gains or losses beyond the control of management (net of taxes). Criteria: Infrequent in occurring and unusual in nature.

4. Accounting Methods (Principles) Changed: Changes in accounting (mandatory or voluntary) occur frequently in practice, because important events or conditions may be in dispute or uncertain at the statement date. Changes in accounting methods (principles) are recognized through retroactive adjustment, which involves determining the effect of the policy change on the income of prior periods affected. 

H. Reporting Irregular or Unusual Items:

1. All-Inclusive Approach (the most common used approach): This approach indicates that most items, even irregular ones, are recorded in income. Three exceptions: 

(a). Errors in prior period's income measurement. Adjusted in statement of retained earnings.

(b). Changes in Accounting policies. Adjusted retroactively.

(c). Foreign exchange gains or losses on self-sustaining foreign subsidiaries. Adjusted in Balance Sheet (owner's equity).

2. Current Operating Performance Approach: Only the regular and recurring revenue and expenses elements are included in income measure. 

I. Discontinued Operations: One of the most common types of irregular items. Discontinued operations are defined as the operations of an identifiable business (by geographic or by line of business) that have been sold, abandoned, shut down, or otherwise dispose of, or that is the subject of a formal plan of disposal.

Examples of disposal of assets that would not qualified as disposals of a segment of a business are: (1) disposal of part of a line of business. (2) Shifting production or marketing activities for a particular line of business from one location to another. (3) Phasing out of a product line of class of service. (4) Other changes due to technological improvement.

Three important dates in reporting discontinued operations:

1. Measurement Date: the data at which the formal plan to dispose is approved or the disposal date, which ever is earlier. At this point in time, the company measures whether there will be a gain or loss and generally accrues any expected losses.

2. Fiscal Year-end for the company. The financial reporting of the discontinued operations must be finalized.

3. Disposal date: The actual date that the assets are disposed of. Any expected gains or losses are realized. The period between the measurement date and the disposal date is referred to as phase-out period.

The report of discontinued operations:

Income from continuing operations

Discontinued operations


Gain (Loss) from operation of discontinued operations (net of tax)


Gain (Loss) from disposal of discontinued operations (net of tax)
Net Income

Income per common share from continuing operations

Discontinued operation per common share

Net Income per common share

Case 1: No phase-out period (i.e., measurement date and disposal date are the same)

Heartland decided on October 1, 2000 to sell a division of the company and the transaction completed at the same date. This disposal is qualified as discontinued operation. The operating results for this division from the beginning of the year to October 1 is a loss of $150,000. Heartland realized a gain of $400,000 from the disposal of this division. Effective tax rate is 30%.

    1/1/2000





10/1/2000

  12/31/2000

	Loss of $150,000
	








    Measurement date







        Disposal Date







    (Gain of $400,000)

Discontinued operations

   Loss from operation of discontinued operations (net of tax)

$(105,000)

   Gain from disposal of discontinued operations (net of tax)

$ 280,000










$ 175,000
Case 2: Phase-out period: (i.e., Measurement date and disposal date are different, and disposal date is before the end of fiscal year).

Assuming all other thing being equal as in the above case1, except that the disposal date is December 1, 2000 and realized a disposal gain of $350,000. Additional $50,000 loss was incurred during the period between October 1 and December 1, 2000.

    1/1/2000





10/1

    12/1
  12/31/2000







Measurement date  

	Loss of $150,000
	Loss of $50,000
	










      Disposal date









 (Gain of $350,000)

Discontinued operations

   Loss from operation of discontinued operations (net of tax)

$(105,000)

   Gain from disposal of discontinued operations 

Including operating Loss of $50,000 and disposal 

Gain of $350,000(net of tax)





$ 210,000










$ 105,000
Here the Gain (Loss) from disposal of discontinued operation has two components, one component is the realized operating result between measurement and disposal date, and another component is the disposal gain or loss (i.e., the difference between sale price and the net book value of the discontinued division). 

Case 3-1: Extended Phase-out period (Net Loss)

Assuming Heartland expected the disposal date is May 1, 2001, and it realized additional loss $400,000 during the period between October 1 and December 31, 2000. Heartland also expected it will have additional operating loss of $200,000 between January 1, and May 1, 2001 and that expected disposal gain will be $350,000.

1/1/2000


10/1/2000

12/31/2000

5/1/2001

	Loss of $150,000
	Loss of $400,000
	Loss of $200,000


 








   Gain of $350,000

Discontinued operations

   Loss from operation of discontinued operations (net of tax)

$(105,000)

   Loss from disposal of discontinued operations 

Including realized operating loss of $400,000, 

expected operating loss of $200,000, and 

disposal Gain of $350,000(net of tax)



$(175,000)










$(280,000)
Case 3-2: Extended Phase-out period (Net Gain)

Assuming Heartland expected the disposal date will be May 1, 2001, and it realized gain of  $200,000 during the period between October 1 and December 31, 2000. Heartland also expected it will have additional operating gain of $100,000 between January 1, and May 1, 2001 and that expected disposal gain will be $350,000.

1/1/2000


10/1/2000

12/31/2000

5/1/2001

	Loss of $150,000
	Gain of $200,000
	Gain of $100,000


 








   Gain of $350,000

Discontinued operations

   Loss from operation of discontinued operations (net of tax)

$(105,000)

   Gain from disposal of discontinued operations 

Including realized operating gain of $200,000 (net of tax)
$ 140,000










$   35,000
The conservative accounting principle is applied in this case. Only the realized gain of $200,000 between October 1 and December 31, 2000 is recognized in the Gain from disposal of discontinued operations. The remaining expected operating gain of $100,000 and expected disposal gain of $350,000 are ignored.

The operating gain or loss for the period between January1 and May 1 2001 and disposal gain or loss will be recognized in 2001 when they are realized.

Additional Examples:

	Disposals of Segments Involving Extended Phase-Out Period of Discontinued Operation

	
	Realized Gain (Loss) on Operation

10/1/2000 to 12/31/2000
	Expected Gain (Loss) on Operation

1/1/2001 to 5/1/2001
	Expected Gain (Loss) on Sale of Assets
	Year
	Gain (Loss) on Disposal Segment

	Case 1
	$(400,000)
	$(200,000)
	$350,000
	2000
	$(250,000)

	
	
	
	
	2001
	0

	Case 2
	$(300,000)
	$(600,000)
	$(500,000)
	2000
	$(1,400,000)

	
	
	
	
	2001
	0

	Case 3
	$100,000
	$400,000
	$(600,000)
	2000
	$(100,000)

	
	
	
	
	2001
	0

	Case 4
	$(500,000)
	$(300,000)
	$900,000
	2000
	0

	
	
	
	
	2001
	$100,000

	Case 5
	$400,000
	$300,000
	$250,000
	2000
	$400,000

	
	
	
	
	2001
	$550,000

	Case 6
	$600,000
	$(200,000)
	$(300,000)
	2000
	$100,000

	
	
	
	
	2001
	0

	Case 7
	$400,000
	$(300,000)
	$350,000
	2000
	$400,000

	
	
	
	
	2001
	$50,000

	Case 8
	$400,000
	$(350,000)
	$300,000
	2000
	$350,000

	
	
	
	
	2001
	0


Rules in applying conservative accounting principle in extended phase-out period situation:

1. If the summation of the three components for Gain from disposal of discontinued operations is net loss, accrue and report the loss.
2. If the summation of the three components for Gain from disposal of discontinued operations is net gain, the amount can be accrued and reported cannot exceed the realized gain (i.e., the first component: the realized gain from operation between measurement date and fiscal year end).
J. Extraordinary Items: To qualified as an extraordinary items, all the first three criteria must be met:

1. Infrequent in occurring.

2. Unusual in nature.

3. Do not depend primarily on decisions or determinations by management.

4. Materiality.

Extraordinary items are to be shown net of taxes in a separate section in the income statement.

K. Unusual Gains and Losses:

Most items that do not meet all the three criteria (i.e., meet only one of the three criteria) of extraordinary items are reported as unusual items in income statement.

L. Changes in Accounting Principle: 

Changes in accounting principle are recognized through retroactive adjustment, which involves determining the effect of the change on income of prior periods affected. The financial statements for all prior periods that are presented for comparative purposes should be restated except when the effect is not reasonably determinable. If all comparative years were not disclosed, a cumulative amount would be calculated and adjusted through retained earnings.

Example: Gaubert decide in March 2002 to change from the declining balance method of calculating amortization on its plant assets to the straight-line method. The asset originally cost $100,000 in 2000 and has a service life of four years.

	Year
	Declining-Balance
	Straight-Line
	Excess of Declining-Balance over Straight-Line Method

	2000
	$40,000
	$25,000
	$15,000

	2001
	$30,000
	$25,000
	$  5,000

	Total
	
	
	$20,000


The presentation in Statement of Retained Earnings

Retained Earning, Jan. 1 2002





$120,000

Cumulative effect on Prior Years of retroactive application of new


Amortization method (net of $6,000 tax)



    14,000
Adjusted Retained Earning, Jan. 1, 2001




$134,000

In addition to reporting the retroactive adjustment in the statement of retained earnings (e.g., the effect on prior years), a disclosure (e.g., supporting schedule or footnote) must be included in the financial reporting to describe the change and its effect on the year of changing.  

M.  Change in Estimations:

The change of estimation in considered normal accounting practices and requires no retroactive adjustments. Examples are: changes in useful life and salvage value estimations of depreciation accounting, changes in uncollectible amount estimation for account receivables, and changes in warranty expense estimation.  Changes of estimate are not considered as errors or extraordinary items.

N. Intraperiod Tax Allocation: Let the tax follow the income.

The main purpose of intraperiod tax allocation is to relate the income tax expense of fiscal period to the items (i.e., IDEA) that affect the amount of the tax provisions. 

Examples: 

Extraordinary Gains: Income before tax and extraordinary item is $250,000, and an extraordinary gain of $100,000 is recognized. If the income tax rate is 48%. Then

Income before income tax and extraordinary item



$250,000

Income tax expense







  120,000
Income before extraordinary item





$130,000

Extraordinary gain





$100,000


Less applicable income tax



    48,000
    52,000
Net Income








$182,000


Extraordinary Losses: Income before tax and extraordinary item is $250,000, and an extraordinary loss of $100,000 is recognized. If the income tax rate is 48%. Then

Income before income tax and extraordinary item



$250,000

Income tax expense







  120,000
Income before extraordinary item





$130,000

Extraordinary loss





$100,000


Less applicable income tax



   (48,000)
    52,000
Net Income








$  78,000
O. Earnings Per Common Shares (EPS):

The computation of basic EPS is usually straightforward. Net income minus preferred dividends (available to common shareholders) is divided by the weighted average share outstanding during the year to arrive at EPS.

Example of computing weighted-average shares outstanding:

Date


Share Changes



Shares Outstanding
Jan. 1


Beginning Balance



  90,000

Apr. 1


Issued 30,000 shares for cash


  30,000









120,000

July 1


Repurchased 39,000 shares


  39,000









  81,000

Nov. 1


Issued 60,000 shares for cash


  60,000
Dec. 31

Ending Balance



141,000
To compute the weighted-average number of shares outstanding, the following computation is made:

     Date
    Shares

  Fraction

  Weighted

Outstanding
Outstanding (A)
of Year (B)

Shares (A * B)
1/1 to 4/1
     90,000

    3/12


      22,500

4/1 to 7/1
   120,000

    3/12


      30,000

7/1 to 11/1
     81,000

    4/12


      27,000

11/1 to 12/31
   141,000

    2/12


      23,500
Weighted-Average number of shares outstanding

    103,000

Chapter 5 Financial Position and Cash Flows

A. Usefulness of the Balance Sheet: 

The balance sheet provides a basis for

1. Computing rates of return (e.g., return on asset, return on equity).

2. Evaluating the capital structure of the firm (e.g., debt to equity ratio).

3. Assessing the liquidity and financial flexibility of the firm (e.g., current and quick ratios).

In order to judge firm risk and assess future cash flows, one must determine firm liquidity and financial flexibility by analyzing its balance sheet. Liquidity describes the amount of time that is expected to elapse until an asset is realized or otherwise converted into cash or until a liability has to be paid. Financial flexibility is the ability of a firm to take effective actions to alter the amounts and timing of cash flows so it can respond to unexpected needs and opportunities.

Limitations of the Balance Sheet:

1. The balance sheet does not reflect the current value (i.e., market value) of many items. (Historical cost principle)

2. Judgements and estimations must be used in preparing the Balance sheet (e.g., intentional or unintentional measurement errors always exist).

3. Omits many items that are of financial value to the business but cannot be measured objectively. (i.e., intangible assets such as human capital, and goodwill created within the business)

Classification in the Balance Sheet:

Classification in financial statements helps users by grouping items with similar characteristics and separating items with different characteristics:

1. Assets that differ in their type or expected function in the central operations or other enterprise activities should be reported as separate items (e.g., inventory or PPE).

2. Assets and liabilities with different implications for the firm's financial flexibility should be reported as separated items (e.g., current or long-term liability).

3. Assets and liabilities with different general liquidity characteristics should be reported as separated items (e.g., short-term or long-term investments).

Elements of the Balance Sheet:

1. Assets: Probable future economic benefits obtained or controlled by a particular entity as a result of past transactions or events. (1) Current assets, (2) Long-term Investments, (3) Property, Plant, and Equipment (PPE), (4) Intangible assets, (5) Other assets.

2. Liabilities: Probable future sacrifices of economic benefits arising from present duty or responsibility to others, as result of past transactions or events, where there is little or no discretion to avoid obligation. (1) Current liabilities, (2) Long-term debt.

3. Owner's Equity: Residual interest in an entity's assets that remains after deducting its liabilities. (1) Capital shares (e.g., common or preferred shares), (2) Contributed surplus, (3) Retained earnings (or deficit). The first two items are also called contributed capitals, and the third item is called earned capital.

Current Assets:

Current assets are cash and other assets ordinarily realizable within one year from the date of the balance sheet or within the normal operating cycle where that is longer than a year.

1. Cash and cash equivalents. Examples: Cash, demand deposits, and short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.

2. Short-term investments: Only those short-term investments that are capable of reasonably prompt liquidation and where there is management intent to liquidate them within a year can be classified as current assets.

3. Receivables: Examples: Accounts receivables and notes receivables that have a maturity date within a year. Accounts should be segregated so as to show ordinary trade accounts, amounts owing by related parties, and other unusual items of a substantial amount.

4. Prepaid Expense: Prepaid expenses included in current assets are expenditures already made for benefits to be received within one year. Examples: prepaid rent, prepaid insurance.

Long-term Investments:

Four types of long-term investments:

1. Investments in securities, such as bonds, common shares, or long-term notes.

2. Investments in tangible fixed assets not currently used in operations, such as land help for speculation.

3. Investments set-aside in special funds such as sinking funds, pension funds, or plant expansion funds.

4. Investments in nonconsolidated subsidiaries or affiliated companies.

Property, Plant, and Equipment/Capital Assets (PPE):

PPE are properties of a durable nature used in regular business operations to generate income. Examples: Land, buildings, machinery, trucks, and office furniture.

Intangible Assets: 

Intangible assets generally lack physical substance and usually have a higher degree of uncertainty concerning their future benefits. Examples: Patent, goodwill, copyrights, and franchises.

Other Assets: 

The items included in the other assets section vary widely in practice. Some of the items commonly included are deferred charges, noncurrent receivables, and assets in special funds, and future income taxes benefits.

Current Liabilities:

Current liabilities are obligations that are expected to be settled either through the use of current assets or the creation of other current liabilities. This concept includes:

1. Payables resulting from the acquisitions of goods or services. Examples; accounts payable, wages payable, and taxes payable.

2. Collections received in advance for the delivery of goods or performance of service. Examples: unearned service revenue and unearned rent revenue.

3. Other liabilities whose liquidation will take place within the operating cycle. Examples: maturity portion of long-term debt, and short-term obligations arising from purchase agreement.

4. Short-term financing payable on demand. Examples: line of credit or overdraft. 

Long-term Liabilities:

Long-term liabilities are obligations that are not reasonably expected to be liquidated within the normal operating cycle but instead are payable at some date beyond that time. Three types of long-term liabilities:

1. Obligations arising from specific financing situations. Examples: bonds payable, long-term lease obligations, and long-term notes payables.

2. Obligations arising from the ordinary business operations. Examples: pension obligations, and 

3. Obligations that are dependent upon the occurrence or nonoccurrence of one or more future events to confirm the amount payable, or the payee, or the date payable. Examples: service or product warranty and other contingent liabilities.

Owners' Equity:

The owners' equity section is one of the most difficult sections to prepare and understand. This is due to the complexity of capital share agreements and the various restrictions on residual equity imposed by corporation laws, liability agreement, and boards of directors. The section is usually divided into three parts: 

1. Capital Shares: The exchange value of shares issued. No par value in Canada.

Examples: Issued 100shares common at $15 per share. 

Says par value per share is $10 in U.S., then


Cash



$1,500



Common Shares


$1,000



Contributed Surplus


     500

 NO par value in Canada, then


Cash



$1,500



Common Shares


$1,500

2. Contributed Surplus: Includes premiums on shares issued, capital donations, and others.

3. Retained Earnings: The corporation's unrestricted earnings, sometimes referred to as earned surplus.

Additional Information Reported:

1. Contingencies: A contingency is defined as an existing situation involving uncertainty as to possible gain (gain contingency) or loss (loss contingency) that will ultimately be resolved when one or more future events occur or fail to occur. Conservative accounting principle requires that a loss contingency must be accrued and reported when it is probable and its amount is reasonably estimable. A gain contingency is not accrued but a description of such event can be disclosed in a footnote.

2. Accounting Policies: CICA Handbook Section 1505 recommends disclosure for all significant accounting principles and methods that involve selection from among alternatives or those that are peculiar to a given industry. For example, inventory cost flow assumptions, depreciation methods. In general, a description of accounting policies and methods used in provided in the first footnote of financial reporting.

3. Contractual Situations: Contractual situations of significance should be disclosed in the footnotes to the financial statements.

4. Additional Detail: For many balance sheet items, further detail is disclose for clarification. 

5. Subsequent Events: Important events occurred in the period between the end of accounting period (i.e., fiscal year end or quarter end) and reporting date must be disclosed. According to Section 3820 of the CICA Handbook, subsequent events fall into one of two types:

(a) Those which provide further evidence of conditions that existed at the balance sheet date (must adjust financial statements for these).

(b) Those which are indicative of conditions that arise subsequent to the financial statement date (note disclose if the condition causes a significant change to financial position or will have a significant impact on future operations.)

Techniques of Disclosure:

The following methods of disclosing pertinent information are available:

1. Parenthetical explanations. Example: (Net of income tax).

2. Footnotes. 

3. Cross Reference, Contra and Adjunct items. Examples: See Current Liabilities, Accumulated Depreciation, and Premium on Bonds Payable.

4. Supporting Schedules.

Purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows:

The statement of cash flows provides answers to the following questions:

1. Where did the cash come from during the period?

2. Where was the cash used for during the period?

3. What was the change in the cash balance during the period?

Content and Format of the Statement of Cash Flows:

Cash receipts and cash payments during a period are classified into three different activities:

1. Operating activities represent the enterprise's principal revenue-producing activities and all other activities not related to investing or financing.

2. Investing activities represent the acquisitions and disposal of long-term assets and other investments not included in cash equivalents.

3. Financing activities represent activities that result in changes in the size and composition of the enterprise's equity capital and borrowings.

Example Format:

Statement of Cash Flows


Cash Flows from Operating Activities



$$$


Cash Flows from Investing Activities




$$$

Cash Flows from Financing Activities



$$$
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash




$$$

Cash at beginning of year





$$$
Cash at end of year






$$$
Preparation of the Statement of Cash Flows

There are two ways to prepare a cash flow statement:

1. By analyzing the changes in balance sheet accounts (other than the cash and cash equivalents account) from year to year.

2. By analyzing the change in the cash and cash equivalents account (in detail) from year to year.

In a double entry accounting system, all transactions involving cash will change the cash position through the general entry either in the debit side (i.e., increase) or the credit side (i.e., decrease). The alternative #2 examines the changes in cash and cash equivalent accounts and prepares statement of cash flow. However this approach may not suitable for outsiders as outsiders do not have the detailed information of the cash and cash equivalent account.

Under the alternative #1, the information to prepare the statement of cash flows comes from (1) comparative balance sheets, (2) the current income statement, and (3) selected transaction data. Preparing the statement of cash flows from these sources involves the following steps:

1. Determine the cash provided by operations.

2. Determine the cash provided by or used in investing and financing activities.

3. Determine the change (increase or decrease) in cash during the period.

4. Reconcile he change in cash with the beginning and ending cash balances.

Example: Telemarketing Inc., in its first year of operations, issued on January 1, 2002, 50,000 common shares for $50,000 cash. The company rented its office space, furniture, and telecommunication equipment and prepare surveys and marketing services throughout the first year. In June 2002, the company purchased land for $15,000 cash. The comparative balance sheet at the beginning and end of 2002 are as follows:

Comparative Balance Sheets

Assets




12/31, 2002
1/1, 2002
Increase/Decrease

   Cash




$31,000

0
$31,000 Increase

   Accounts Receivable

  41,000

0
  41,000 Increase

   Land




  15,000

0
  15,000 Increase

Total




$87,000

0



Liabilities and Owner's Equity

   Accounts Payable


$12,000

0
  12,000 Increase

   Common Shares


  50,000

0
  50,000 Increase

   Retained Earnings


  25,000

0
  25,000 Increase

Total




$87,000



Income Statement

For the period ended 12/31, 2002
Revenues







$172,000

Operating Expense






  120,000
Income before Income Taxes





    52,000

Income Tax Expense






    13,000
Net Income







$  39,000
Additional information: Dividends of $14,000 were declared paid during the year.

Step 1: Determine the cash provided by operations: The excess of cash receipts over cash payment is determined by converting net income from an accrual basis to a cash basis. Two types of adjustments accomplish this:

(1) Adding to or deducting from net income those items in the income statement not affecting cash (add back noncash charges such as accrued expense, amortization and losses and deduct non cash sales and gains) and

(2) Adjusting cash provided by operating activities for those items that are operating cash flows that do not flow through the income statement (add back cash collected during the year from last year's sales, deduct cash spent on inventory that is still on hand, deduct cash paid to suppliers for expenses accrued last year).

Analysis of comparative balance sheets reveals two items that give rise to noncash credits or charges to the income statements: (1) the increase in accounts receivable reflects a noncash credit of $41,000 to revenue and (2) the increase in accounts payable reflects a noncash charge of $12,000 to expenses.

The change in accounts receivables in general have three components:

1. Cash received from sales from last year-add to cash from operations, as this would not be included in current year's net income.

2. Cash received from credit sales made in current year-already in net income, no need to adjust.

3. Credit sales made in the current sales made in the current year and not yet collected-deducted from net income, as these are noncash.

The net effect of the three components accounts receivable if is increase (decrease) must be deducted from (added to) net income. 

The change in accounts payable also has three components:

1. Cash paid out during the year for last year's expense-deduct from cash from operating activities, as this would not be reflected in the current year's net income.

2. Cash paid for current year's accrued expense that are paid for during the year-already deducted from net income and therefore no need to adjust.

3. Expenses accrued in the current year that have not yet been paid for-add back to net income as noncash.

For Telemarketing Inc., cash provided by operating is determined to be $10,000, calculated as follows:

Net Income







$39,000

Adjustments to reconcile net income

  To net cash provided by operating activities


Increase in A/Rs



$(41,000)


Increase in A/Ps



   12,000
 (29,000)
Net Cash provided by operating activities



$10,000
Step 2: Determine the cash provided by or used in investing and financing activities.

The increase of $50,000 in common shares resulting from the issuance of 50,000 shares for cash is classified as a financing activity. Likewise, the payment of $14,000 cash in dividends is a financing activity. Only investing for Telemarketing for 2002 was the land purchase.

Financing activities change the positions of liabilities or owner's equity.

Example 1: Borrow $10,000 from bank.


Cash


$10,000



Loan



$10,000 

Example 2: Issued 1,000 shares for $30,000.


Cash 


$30,000



Common Shares

$30,000

Example 3: Declared and paid $20,000 cash dividend.


Retained Earnings
$20,000



Cash



$30,000

Investing activities change the positions in noncash assets.

Example 1: Purchase building for $75,000


Building

$75,000



Cash



$75,000

Example 2: Sell security investment at cost for $60,000


Cash


$60,000

Long-term Investment

$60,000

Step 3: Determine the change (increase or decrease) in cash during the period.

Step 4: Reconcile he change in cash with the beginning and ending cash balances.

Statement of Cash Flows

For the year Ended December 31, 2002
Net Income







$39,000

Adjustments to reconcile net income

  To net cash provided by operating activities


Increase in A/Rs



$(41,000)


Increase in A/Ps



   12,000
 (29,000)
Net Cash provided by operating activities



$10,000

Cash from investing activities



Purchase of Land



 (15,000)


Net Cash provided by Investing activities



 (15,000)


Cash from financing activities




Issuance of common shares


  50,000



Payment of cash dividend

 
 (14,000)

Net Cash provided by Financing activities



  36,000

Net Increase in Cash






$31,000


Cash at beginning of year





           0

Cash at end of year






$31,000
Under alternative #2, the starting point would be general ledger-Cash account.

Step 1:

General Ledger-Cash






   Debit


   Credit
January



$  50,000

 

June







$  15,000

Throughout



  131,0001

  121,0002
Throughout






    14,0003
Subtotal



$181,000

$150,000
Net




$  31,000
1: Total sales of $172,000 less credit sales (A/Rs) of $41,000 = $131,000

2: Total expenses of $120,000 + 13,000 = $133,000 less accrued expense (noncash) of 12,000 (A/Ps) = $121,000

3: Dividends paid.

Step 2: Classify the debits and credits (cash inflows and outflows) by operating, investing, or financing. This is the same process as in the first alternative and yields exactly the same results:

Cash provided by operations ($131,000 - $121,000)


$ 10,000

Cash used in investing





$(15,000)

Cash provided by financing





$ 36,000
Total cash provided during the year




$ 31,000
Usefulness of the Statement of Cash Flows

Creditors examine the cash flows statement carefully because they are concerned about being paid. The amount and trend of net cash flow provided by operating activities in relation to firm's liabilities is helpful in making this assessment. In addition, measures such as a free cash flow analysis provide creditors and investors with a better picture of the firm's financial flexibility.

Chapter 6 Revenue Recognition

A. Revenue Recognition Criteria:

Revenues are recognized when goods and services are exchanged for cash or claims to cash (i.e., receivables). Revenue recognition is governed by general principles and therefore there is a wide array of practical applications. Firms in different industries interpret these principles in different ways (i.e., industrial practices). Under the revenue recognition principle, revenue is recognized when performance is substantially complete and when collection is reasonably assured.

The concept of performance has two components: (1) revenue is earned, and (2) the revenues are measurable. If a firm has completed the performance but its ability of collecting revenue is uncertain, then revenue should not be recognized (e.g., installment sale).  

In short, revenue are recognized when the following criteria are met:

1. Earning process is substantially complete.

2. Measurability is reasonably assured.

3. Collectibility is reasonably assured.

B. Earnings Process is the term that refers to the actions that a company undertakes to add value. It is unique to each company. In identifying and reviewing an entity's earnings process, it useful to focus on which industry the company operates in, including whether it sells goods or services (or both). Different industries add value in different ways. Often, there is one main act or critical event in the earnings process that signals substantial completion or performance. At this point, although not all uncertainty is eliminated, it is at an acceptable level for revenues to be recognized under accrual accounting. In business involving sale of goods, this is normally at the point of delivery. It is very important, at the point of delivery, to look at who has possession of the goods and who has legal title. For example, FOB shipping point means that the legal title belongs to the buyer when the goods leave the shipping docks. If the term is FOB destination, the legal title does not pass until the goods reach customer's location.

Shipping Date







Receiving Date

12/26




12/31



1/5 


|------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------|

FOB Shipping Point (Buyer)




   FOB Destination (Seller)

12/26 FOB Shipping Point OR 1/5 FOB Destination

Buyer






Seller

Inventory

$$$



A/Rs


$$$


A/P


$$$



Sales


$$$

C. Consignment Sales (Earnings Process): In a consignment arrangement, the point of delivery does not provide evidence of full performance because the vendor retains legal title to the goods. Therefore, no sales should be recognized at the point of delivery.
Example: Nelba Corp. ships merchandise costing $36,000 on consignment to Best Value Stores. Nelba pays $3,750 of freight costs and Best Value Pays $2,250 for local advertising costs that are reimbursable from Nelba. By the end of the period, two-thirds of the consigned merchandise has been sold for $40,000 cash. Best Value notifies Nelba of the sales, retains a 10% commission, and remits the cash due to Nelba. The consigner (Nelba) and the consignee (Best Value) would make the following journal entries. 

Consigner (Nelba)




Consignee (Best Value)



Shipment of consigned merchandise

Inventory on Consignment
$36,000


No Entry


FG Inventory


$36,000

Payment of Freight Costs by Consigner

Inventory on Consignment
$  3,750


No Entry


Cash



$  3,750

Payment of Advertising by Consignee







Receivable from Consignor
$  2,250

No Entry





Cash



$  2,250

Sales of Consigned Merchandise







Cash



$40,000

No Entry





Payable to Consigner

$40,000

Notification of Sales and Expenses and Remittance of amount due

Cash



$33,750

Payable to Consigner

$40,000

Advertising Expenses

    2,250


Receivable for Consigner
$  2,250

Commission Expense

    4,000


Commission Revenue

    4,000


Revenue from Consignment
$40,000

Cash



  33,750

Adjustment of inventory on Consignment for cost of sales

COGS



$26,500


No Entry


Inventory on Consignment
$26,500

D. Continuing Managerial Involvement (Earnings Process):  

In some cases, the vendor retains some involvement in the product sold, such as the responsibility to fix the product if it breaks or to provide ongoing product support to the customer. For example, to induce a sale, a vendor may promise the buyer will receive a certain amount on resale of the merchandise (e.g., guaranteed minimum resale value). In such case the vendor still retains risk of value loss and consideration should be given to whether a sale should be recognized. As a general rule, in order to recognize revenue, the vendor should retain no continuing managerial involvement in or effective control of the goods transferred to a degree normally associated with ownership. The determination of whether continuing managerial involvement precludes revenue recognition is matter of professional judgement.

E. Completion of Production:

Revenue may be recognized at the completion of production for certain industries even though no customer has yet been identified. Examples are precious metals or agricultural products with assured prices and ready markets. For these products the sales price is reasonably assured, the units are interchangeable, and no significant costs are involved in distributing the product (little or no uncertainty).

F. Rendering of Services and Long-term Contracts (Earnings Process):

For certain industries or certain long-term contracts, often the earnings process has numerous significant events as opposed to the one critical event or discrete act (i.e., discrete earnings process). The earnings process for these industries is said to be ongoing or continuous earnings process. Many long-term contracts such as construction-type contracts, development of military and commercial aircraft frequently provide that the seller (builder) may bill the buyer at intervals, as various points in project are reached. When the project consist of separable units such as a group of buildings, passage of title and billing may take place at stated stages of completion. Such contract provisions provide for delivery in installments, and the accounting may reflect this by recording sales when installments are delivered. 

Two distinctly different methods of accounting for long-term construction contracts are:

1. Percentage-of-Completion Method:

When the earnings process extends well beyond one fiscal period (e.g., shipbuilding), the amount of revenue to be recognized can be a function of the cost incurred or works completed during the accounting period. For example, construction costs plus gross profit earned to date are accumulated in an inventory account (Construction in Process), and progress billings are accumulated in a contra inventory account (Billings on Construction in Process).

Step 1: Estimate the percentage of contract work that have been completed.

Costs incurred to date/ Estimated Total cost of project = Percentage completed

Step 2: Compute the revenue to be recognized this period.

Percentage completed * Total Revenue = Revenue to be Recognized to date

Step 3: Determine the amounts of revenue and gross profit recognized each period.

Revenue to be recognized to date  - Revenue recognized in prior periods 

= Current Revenue
Example: Hardhat Construction has a contract starting July 2001 to construct a $4.5 million bridge that is expected to be completed in October 2003, at an estimated cost of $4 million. The following data pertain to the construction period (note that by the end of 2002 the estimated total cost has increased from $4 million to $4,050,000):

	
	2001
	2002
	2003

	Cost to Date
	$1,000,000
	$2,916,000
	$4,050,000

	Estimated Cost to Complete
	$3,000,000
	$1,134,000
	

	Progress Billings during the year
	$  900,000
	$2,400,000
	$1,200,000

	Cash Collected During the year
	$  750,000
	$1,750,000
	$2,000,000


The Percent complete would be calculated as follows:

	
	2001
	2002
	2003

	Contract Price
	$4,500,000
	$4,500,000
	$4,500,000

	Less Estimated Cost:
	
	
	

	     Costs to date
	$1,000,000
	$2,916,000
	$4,050,000

	     Estimated Costs to Complete
	$3,000,000
	$1,134,000
	

	     Estimated Total Costs
	$4,000,000
	$4,050,000
	$4,050,000

	Estimated Total Gross Profit
	$  500,000
	$  450,000
	$  450,000

	Percent Complete:
	25%1
	72%2
	100%3


1. Cost to date/Estimated Total Cost = $1,000,000/$4,000,000 = 25%

2. Cost to date/Estimated Total Cost = $2,916,000/$4,050,000 = 72%

3. Cost to date/Estimated Total Cost = $4,050,000/$4,050,000 = 100%

Accounting entries would be prepared to record events of (1) the costs of construction, (2) progress billings, and (3) collections.

	
	2001
	2002
	2003

	To record cost of construction
	
	
	

	Construction in Process
	$1,000,000
	$1,916,000
	$1,134,000

	Material, Cash, Payables
	$1,000,000
	$1,916,000
	$1,134,000

	To record Progress Billings
	
	
	

	Accounts Receivable
	$900,000
	$2,400,000
	$1,200,000

	Billings on CIP
	$900,000
	$2,400,000
	$1,200,000

	To record collections
	
	
	

	Cash
	$750,000
	$1,750,000
	$2,000,000

	Accounts Receivable
	$750,000
	$1,750,000
	$2,000,000


The entries to recognize revenue and gross profit each year and to record completion and final approval of contract are shown below:

	
	2001
	2002
	2003

	To recognize revenue and gross profit
	
	
	

	Construction in Process 

      (Gross Profit)
	$   125,000
	$   199,000
	$   126,000

	Construction Expense
	$1,000,000
	$1,916,000
	$1,134,000

	Revenue from Long-

term Contract
	$1,125,0001
	$2,115,0002
	$1,260,0003

	To record Completion of the Contract
	
	
	

	Billings on CIP
	 
	 
	$4,500,000

	Construction in Process
	 
	 
	$4,500,000


1. $4,500,000 * 25% = $1,125,000

2. ($4,500,000 * 72%) - $1,125,000 = $2,115,000

3. $4,500,000 - ($1,125,000 + $2,115,000) = $1,260,000

Construction costs must continue to be accumulated in the Construction in Process account to maintain a record of total costs incurred (plus recognized profit) to date.

Construction in Process

	2001
	Construction Cost         $1,000,000
	

	2001
	Gross Profits                      125,000
	12/31/2001                                $1,125,000

	2002
	Construction Cost         $1,916,000
	

	2002
	Gross Profits                      199,000
	12/31/2002                                $3,240,000

	2003
	Construction Cost         $1,134,000
	

	2003
	Gross Profits                      126,000
	12/31/2003                                $4,500,000

	Total
	                                      $4,500,000
	                                                  $4,500,000


Financial Statement Presentation - Percentage of Completion

Generally when a receivable from a sale is recorded, the inventory account is reduced. In this case, however, both the receivable and the inventory continue to be carried. Subtracting the balance in the Billings account from CIP avoids double counting the inventory. During the life time of the contract, the difference between the CIP and the Billings on CIP accounts is reported in the Balance Sheet as a current Asset if a debit, and as a current Liability if a credit.

HARDHAT Construction LTD

Income Statement

	
	2001
	2002
	2003

	Revenue from Long-term Contracts
	$1,125,000
	$2,115,000
	$1,260,000

	Cost of Construction
	  1,000,000
	  1,916,000
	  1,134,000

	Gross Profit
	$   125,000
	$   199,000
	$   126,000


Balance Sheet

	 
	2001
	2002

	Current Assets
	
	

	     Accounts Receivable
	$   150,000
	$   800,000

	     Inventories
	
	

	        Construction in Process               $1,125,000
	 
	

	        Less: Billings on CIP                       900,000
	 
	

	        Costs and Recognized Profit in 

        Excess of Billings
	$    225,000
	

	Current Liabilities
	
	

	     Billings ($3,300,000) in Excess    

     of Costs and Recognized Profit ($3,240,000)
	 
	$     60,000


Note 1. Summary of significant accounting policies. A description of accounting assumption, estimations, and methods used for this long-term contracts must be disclosed.

2. Completion Contract Method:

Under the completion contract method, revenue and gross profit are recognized when the contract is completed. Costs of long-term contracts in process and current billings are accumulated, but there are no interim charges or credits to income statement accounts for revenues, costs, and gross profit. 

	
	2001
	2002
	2003

	To record cost of construction
	
	
	

	Construction in Process
	$1,000,000
	$1,916,000
	$1,134,000

	Material, Cash, Payables
	$1,000,000
	$1,916,000
	$1,134,000

	To record Progress Billings
	
	
	

	Accounts Receivable
	$900,000
	$2,400,000
	$1,200,000

	Billings on CIP
	$900,000
	$2,400,000
	$1,200,000

	To record collections
	
	
	

	Cash
	$750,000
	$1,750,000
	$2,000,000

	Accounts Receivable
	$750,000
	$1,750,000
	$2,000,000


Note: The same entries (above) are made for percentage of completion method and completion contract method.   

October 2003

Billings on CIP



$4,500,000


Revenue from Long-term Contracts


$4,500,000

Costs of Construction



$4,050,000


Construction in Process



$4,050,000

Comparing the two methods in relation to the same bridge project, Hardhat would have recognized gross profit as follows:

	
	Percentage-of-Completion
	Completed-Contract

	2001
	$125,000
	$0

	2002
	$199,000
	$0

	2003
	$126,000
	$450,000


HARDHAT Construction LTD

Income Statement

	
	2001
	2002
	2003

	Revenue from Long-term Contracts
	$              0
	$              0
	$4,500,000

	Cost of Construction
	$              0
	$              0
	  4,050,000

	Gross Profit
	$              0
	$              0
	$   450,000


Balance Sheet

	 
	2001
	2002

	Current Assets
	
	

	     Accounts Receivable
	$   150,000
	$   800,000

	     Inventories
	
	

	        Construction in Process               $1,000,000
	
	

	        Less: Billings on CIP                       900,000
	
	

	        Costs and Recognized Profit in 

        Excess of Billings
	$    100,000
	

	Current Liabilities
	
	

	     Billings ($3,300,000) in Excess    

     of Contract Costs ($2,916,000)
	  
	$    384,000


Note 1. Summary of significant accounting policies. A description of accounting assumption, estimations, and methods used for this long-term contracts must be disclosed.

G. Long-Term Contract Losses:

Two types of losses can become evident under long-term contacts:

1. Loss in Current Period on a Profitable Contract. The estimated total cost increase but the increase does not eliminated all estimated profit on the contract. Under the percentage-of-completion method only, the estimated cost increase requires a current period adjustment of excess gross profit recognized on the project in prior periods. This adjustment is recorded as a loss in the current period (i.e., change of estimation).

2. Loss on an Unprofitable contract. Cost estimates at the end of the current period may indicate that a loss will result on completion of the entire contract. Under both methods, the entire expected contract loss must be recognized in the current period (i.e., contingent loss).

Example (Loss in Current Period): Assume that on 12/31/2002, Hardhat estimates the costs to complete the bridge contract at $1,468,962 instead of $1,134,000. Assuming all other data are the same as before, Hardhat would calculate the percent complete and recognize the loss as shown (Percentage-of-completion method):

Cost to date (12/31/2002)



$2,916,000


Estimated cost to complete (revised)


  1,468,962

Estimated total Costs




$4,384,962

Percent complete ($2,916,000/$4,384,962)

66.5%

Revenue recognized in 2002



($4,500,000 * 66.5%) - $1,125,000

$1,867,500

Costs incurred in 2002



  1,916,000

Loss Recognized in 2002



$     48,500
Hardhat would record the loss of $48,500 in 2002


Construction Expenses

$1,916,000



Construction in Process (Loss)

$     48,500

Revenue from Long-term Contract

$1,867,500

Example (Loss on an Unprofitable Contract): Assume that at 12/31/2002, Hardhat estimates the costs to complete the bridge contract at $1640,250 instead of $1,134,000. Revised estimates relative to the bridge contract appear as follows:







  2001


2002 

Original Estimates
Revised Estimates


Contract Price


        $4,500,000
      $4,500,000


Estimated Total Costs

          4,000,000
        4,556,2501

Estimated Gross Profit (Loss)             500,000
           (56,250)


Note 1: $2,916,000 + $1,640,250

Under the percentage-of-completion method, $125,000 of gross profit was recognized in 2001. This $125,000 must be offset in 2002 because it is no longer expected to be realized. In addition the total estimated loss of $56,250 must be recognized in 2002. Therefore, a total loss of $181,250 (i.e., $125,000 + $56,250) must be recognized in 2002.

The revenue recognized in 2002 is calculated as follows (Percentage-of-completion method):


Contract price





$4,500,000


Percent complete




*
64%1

Revenue Recognizable



$2,880,000


Less: Revenue recognized prior to 2002

$1,125,000

Revenue recognized in 2002



$1,755,000

Cost to Date (12/31/2002)



$2,916,000


Estimated cost to complete



$1,640,250

Estimated total costs




$4,556,250
Note 1: $2916,000/$4,556,250

The calculation for costs to be expensed in 2002 is shown as follows (Percentage-of-completion method):


Revenue Recognized in 2002



$1,755,000


Total loss recognized in 2002


  Reversal of 2001 gross profit
$125,000


  Total estimated loss on the contract
    56,250
     181,250

Construction cost expensed in 2002


$1,936,250
Hardhat would record the loss of $181,250 in 2002 (Percentage-of-completion method)


Construction Expenses

$1,936,250



Construction in Process (Loss)

$   181,250

Revenue from Long-term Contract

$1,755,000

At the end of 2002, Construction in Process account has a balance of $2,859,750 as shown below:

Construction in Process

	2001
	Construction Cost         $1,000,000
	

	2001
	Gross Profits                      125,000
	

	2002
	Construction Cost         $1,916,000
	2002 Recognized Loss              $   181,250

	Total
	                                      $2,859,750
	                                                   


Under the complete-contract method, the contract loss of $56,250 is also recognized in the year in which it first became evident through the following entry in 2002:


Loss from long-term Contracts

$  56,250



Construction in Process (Loss)


$  56,250


Neither Billings on CIP nor Construction in Process can exceed the contract price (i.e., $4,500,000). In circumstances where the Construction in Process balance exceeds the Billing on CIP, the recognized loss may be deducted on the balance sheet from such accumulated costs. That is, under both the percent-of-completion and the complete-contract methods, the provision for the loss (the credit) may be combined with Construction in Process, thereby reducing the inventory balance. In circumstances, where the Billings on CIP exceed the accumulated costs, the amount of the estimated loss must be reported separately on the balance sheet as a current liability. That is, under both methods, the amount of the loss (i.e., $56,250), as estimated in 2002, would be taken from the Construction in Process account and reported separately as a current liability (Estimated Liability from Long-Term Contracts).

H. Disclosures in Financial Statement for Long-term Contracts: In addition to making all the required financial statements, the following information must also be disclosed: (1) method of revenue recognition, (2) basis used to classify assets and liabilities as current (the nature and the length of operating cycle), (3) revisions if any and its effects,  (4) and all other significant information that would help users to understand. 

I. Measurement Uncertainty:

1. Sales with Buyback agreement (Substance over the Form): A sale with buyback agreement should not be treated as a sale, even though the legal title may have been transferred. (See Enron)

2. Sales when Right of Return Exists: Three alternative revenue recognition methods are available. (1) When expected rate of return is high or cannot be measured: Recognize revenue when all return privileges have expired. (2) When rate of returns is reasonably measurable: Recognize the sales but reducing sales by an estimate of future returns (Sales Returns and Allowance), (3) When the rate of returns is low or the possibility of return is remote: Recording the sales and accounting for returns as they occur (direct method). The second method (allowance method) is preferable in accrual accounting.

J. Uncertainty Associated with Collectibility: When collectibility cannot reasonably assured, revenue should not recognized. Certain sales transactions such as those that require or allow payment over longer periods pose greater collectibility risk. Installment sales are an example of this type of sale. Two methods is generally employed to defer revenue and/or profit recognition until cash is received: (1) Installment sales method, (2) Cost recovery method.

Installment sale is used to describe any type of sale that require periodic installments over an extended period of time. As the payments are generally made over a much longer period than that of ordinary sales (e.g., across several accounting periods or years), the risk of not collecting all amounts due generally is very high for installment sales. Therefore, special revenue recognition methods are employed for installment sales.     

1. Installment Method emphasizes collection rather than sale, recognizing income in the periods of collection rather than the sale period. Under this method, income recognition is deferred until the period of cash collection. Both revenues and costs of sales are recognized in the period of sale but the related gross profit is deferred to those periods in which cash is collected. That is, only the proportional gross profit is deferred. Other expenses, such as selling and administrative expenses, are not deferred. Thus, the matching principle is applied in installment sale through the gross profit figure, but no further.

Procedure for Deferring Revenue and Cost of Sales of Merchandise. The steps to be used as follows:

For the sales in any one year:

(1). During the year, record both sales and cost of sales in the regular way, using the special accounts described later, and calculate the rate of gross profit on installment sales transactions.

(2). At year-end, apply the rate of gross profit to the cash collections of the current year's installment sales to arrive the realized gross profit.

(3). The gross profit not realized should be deferred to future years.

For sales made in prior years:

(1). Installment sales transactions must be kept separately in the accounts from all other sales.

(2). Gross profit on sales sold on installment must be determinable.

(3). The amount of cash collected on installment sales accounts receivable must be known, and the total collected on the current year's and on each preceding year's must determinable.

(4). Provision must be made for carrying forward each year's deferred gross profit.

Example: Assume the following data 

	
	2001
	2002
	2003

	Installment Sales
	$200,000
	$250,000
	$240,000

	Cost of Installment sales
	  150,000
	  190,000
	  168,000

	Gross Profit
	$  50,000
	$  60,000
	$  72,000

	Rate of Gross Profit on Sales
	25%1
	24%2
	30%3

	Cash Receipts
	 
	 
	 

	2001 Sales
	$  60,000
	$100,000
	$  40,000

	2002 Sales
	
	  100,000
	  125,000

	2003 Sales
	
	
	    80,000


1. $50,000/$200,000. 2. $60,000/$250,000. 3. $72,000/$240,000

To simplify the illustration, interest charges have been excluded. 

Summary entries in general entries for 2001 are:

When Installment Sales are Made, 2001

Installment A/Rs, 2001

$200,000



Installment Sales



$200,000

When Cash is Collected


Cash




$  60,000



Installment A/Rs, 2001


$  60,000

Recognize Cost of Goods Sold on Installment Sales in 2001


Cost of Installment Sales

$150,000



Inventory




$150,000

To defer Gross Profit recognition for Unrealized Gross Profit, 2001


Deferred (Unrealized) 

  Gross Profit-Current Year (I/S)
$  35,000



Deferred Gross Profit (B/S)


$  35,0001 

1. 25% * ($200,000- $60,000). A contra asset account (A/R).


Summary entries in general entries for 2002 are:
When Installment Sales are Made, 2002

Installment A/Rs, 2002

$250,000



Installment Sales



$250,000

When Cash is Collected


Cash




$200,000



Installment A/Rs, 2001


$100,000



Installment A/Rs, 2002


$100,000

Recognize Cost of Goods Sold on Installment Sales in 2002


Cost of Installment Sales

$190,000



Inventory




$190,000

Recognize 2001 Realized Gross Profit: 25% * $100,000


Deferred Gross Profit (B/S)

$  25,000



Realized Gross Profit-2001 Sales

$  25,000

To defer Gross Profit recognition for Unrealized Gross Profit, 2002


Deferred (Unrealized) 

  Gross Profit-Current Year (I/S)
$  36,000



Deferred Gross Profit (B/S)


$  36,0001
1. 24% * ($250,000 - $100,000)

Two income statement accounts (i.e., Realized Gross Profit-2001 Sales and Deferred (Unrealized) Gross Profit-Current Year) would generally netted against each other.

Summary entries in general entries for 2003 are:
When Installment Sales are Made, 2002

Installment A/Rs, 2002

$240,000



Installment Sales



$240,000

When Cash is Collected


Cash




$245,000



Installment A/Rs, 2001


$  40,000



Installment A/Rs, 2002


$125,000



Installment A/Rs, 2003


$  80,000

Recognize Cost of Goods Sold on Installment Sales in 2003


Cost of Installment Sales

$168,000



Inventory




$168,000

Recognize 2001 and 2002 Realized Gross Profit: (25% * $40,000) + (24% * $125,000)


Deferred Gross Profit (B/S)

$  40,000



Realized Gross Profit-2001 Sales

$  10,000



Realized Gross Profit-2002 Sales

$  30,000

To defer Gross Profit recognition for Unrealized Gross Profit, 2003


Deferred (Unrealized) 

  Gross Profit-Current Year (I/S)
$  48,000



Deferred Gross Profit (B/S)


$  48,0001
1. 30% * ($240,000 - $80,000)

Additional Problems of Installment Sales Accounting

(1). Interest Revenue on Installment Contract. Interest should be accounted for separately from the gross profit recognized on the installment sales collections during the period. Use Effective Interest Schedule. 

(2). Uncollectible Accounts. Allowance for Uncollectible accounts should be recognized at the end of each accounting period (Matching principle).

(3) Defaults and Repossessions. Depending on he sales contract terms and credit department policy, the seller can repossess merchandise sold under an installment arrangement if the buyer fails to meet payment requirements. The accounting for repossessions recognizes that the related installment receivable account is not collectible and should be written off immediately. Along with the accounts receivable, the applicable deferred gross profit must be removed.


Repossessed Merchandise

$$$


Deferred Gross Profit (B/S)

$$$



Installment A/Rs



$$$

Financial statement Presentation of Installment Sales Transaction:

If installment sales transactions represent a significant part of total sales, full disclosure of installment sales, the cost f installment ales, and any related expenses is desirable. If installment sales transactions represent a insignificant part of total sales, it may be satisfactory to include only the realized gross profit in the income statement as a special item following the gross on sales.

Income Statement

Sales






$620,000

Cost of Goods Sold




  490,000
Gross Profit on Sales




  130,000

Gross Profit Realized on Installment Sales

    51,000
Total Gross Profit on Sales



$181,000
If more complete disclosure of installment sales transactions is desired, a presentation similar to the following may be used:

Income Statement
	
	Installment Sales
	Other Sales
	Total Sales

	Sales
	$248,000
	$620,000
	$868,000

	Cost of Goods Sold 
	  182,000
	  490,000
	  672,000

	Gross Profit on Sales
	    66,000
	  130,000
	  196,000

	Less: Deferred Gross Profit on Installment Sales-Current year
	    47,000
	
	    47,000

	Realized Gross Profit-Current year
	    19,000
	  130,000
	  149,000

	Add: Gross Profit Realized on Installment sales-Prior years
	    32,000
	
	    32,000

	Gross Profit Realized-Current year
	$  51,000
	$130,000
	$181,000


The apparent awkwardness of this presentation is difficult to avoid if full disclosure of installment sales transactions is to be provided in the income statement. One solution is to prepare a separate schedule showing installment sales transactions with only the final figure carried into the income statement.

In the balance sheet it is generally considered desirable to classify installment accounts receivable by year of collectibility. There is some questions as how to classify installment accounts that are collectible for two or more years (i.e., current versus other assets). 

Repossessed merchandise should be included in the current assets section. Any gain or loss on repossessions should be included in the other revenues (expenses) and gains (loss) section of income statement. Deferred gross profit on installment sales must be treated either as unearned revenue (current liability) or a contra asset account (as a valuation of installment accounts receivable). 

2. Cost Recovery Method:

Under the cost recovery method, no profit is recognized until cash payments by the buyer exceed the cost of merchandise sold. This method is the most conservative method of recognizing income under accrual accounting.

Example: Assume that early in 2001, Fesmire sells inventory with a cost of $25,000 to Higley for $36,000 with payment receivable of $18,000 in 2001, $12,000 in 2002, and $6,000 in 2003. If cost recovery method is used and the cash is collected on schedule. Cash collections, revenue, cost, and gross are recognized as follows:

	
	2001
	2002
	2003

	Cash collected
	$18,000
	$12,000
	$  6,000

	Revenue
	$36,000
	0
	0

	Cost of Goods Sold
	$25,000
	0
	0

	Deferred Gross Profit
	$11,000
	$11,000
	$  6,000

	Recognized Gross Profit
	0
	$  5,000
	$  6,000

	Deferred Gross Profit Ending Balance
	$11,000
	$  6,000
	0


Under the cost recovery method, total revenue and cost of goods sold are reported in the period of sale similar to the installment sales method. However, unlike the installment sales method, which recognize income as cash is collected, the cost recovery method recognizes profit only when cash collection exceed the total cost of goods sold.

Journal entries are:

To record deferred gross profit on sales, 2001

Deferred (unrealized) Gross Profit (I/S)

$11,000


Deferred Gross Profit (B/S)




$11,000

To record gross profit to the extent that cash collections in 2002 exceed costs

Deferred Gross Profit (B/S)



$5,000


Realized Gross Profit (I/S)




$5,000

To record gross profit to the extent that cash collections in 2003 exceed costs

Deferred Gross Profit (B/S)



$6,000


Realized Gross Profit (I/S)




$6,000

Chapter 7: Financial Assets: Cash And Receivables

Definition of Monetary Items

The CICA Handbook defines monetary items as follows:

Monetary financial assets and financial liabilities (also referred to as monetary financial instruments) are financial assets and financial liabilities to be received or paid in fixed or determined amounts of money. CICA 3860.05

Monetary items: 

1. Cash and cash equivalents (e.g., T-bills, GICs, commercial paper and money market funds).

2. Contractual claims (or agreement) to receive (or pay) a predetermined amount of cash or of cash equivalent.

Special Items:

1. Overdraft: A negative bank account balance and is reported as a separate current liability on the balance sheet, regardless of its inclusion in cash on Cash Flow statement. However, if a depositor overdraws an account but has positive balances in other accounts with the same bank, it is appropriate to offset the negative and positive balances as long as (1) the bank has the legal right to offset, which is usual, and (2) the company plans to settle the overdraft in this way  (i.e., by a transfer from other accounts).

2. A Compensating balance is a minimum balance that must be maintained in a account as support for funds borrowed by the depositor. Technically, compensating balances are long-term, and should not be included in the current cash account because they are not currently available for use.

3. Foreign Currency balance should be adjusted for the fluctuation in foreign exchange rate and recognize the exchange gain or loss.

Example: 

DGF Ltd. has a bank account in U.S. dollar with a year-end balance of $4,500. The money was received as a result of a cash sale when the exchange rate was U.S. $1.00 = Cdn $1.34, and was recorded at a Canadian dollar amount of $6,030:


Cash, U.S. dollars ($4,500 * 1.34)


$6,030



Sales







$6,030

At the year-end the exchange rate is U.S. $1.00 = Cdn $1.38. The current Canadian dollar equivalent must be established:


Cash, U.S. dollars [$4,500 * (1.38 - 1.34)]

$   180



Exchange Gain





$   180

Internal Controls for Cash and Bank Accounts

The most fundamental principle of internal control is that of Separation of Duties. Same person should not perform the duties of book keeping, handling cash and auditing.

Accounting for Receivables:

In most receivables transactions, the amount to be recognized is the exchange price between the two parties. The exchange price is the amount due from the debtor (i.e., a customer) and is generally evidenced by some type of business document, often an invoice. Two factors that may complicate the measurement of the exchange price are (1) the availability of discount (trade and cash discounts) and (2) the length of time between the sale and the due date of payments (the interest element).

Trade Discount:

Customers are often quoted prices on the basis of list or catalog prices that may be subject to a trade or quantity discount. Such trade discounts are used to avoid frequent changes in catalogs, to quote different prices for different quantities purchased, or to hide the true invoice price from competitors.

Example: You just bought a Mercedes-Benz 560SL with a listing price of $150,000, but you agreed to pay only $125,000. The accounting entry by the dealer is:


A/R




$125,000 (the exchange price)



Sales






$125,000 

Cash Discount (Sales Discount):

Cash (sales) discounts are offered as an inducement for prompt payment. They are communicated in terms that read, for example, 2/10, n/30 (2% discount if paid within 10 days, gross amount due in 30 days). 

There are two methods to account for cash discount.

1. Gross method: The gross amount is recorded at time of sale. If discount is taken by customer, Sales Discount account is used.

2. Net method: The net amount is recorded at time of sale. If discount is not taken by customer, Sales Discount Forfeited account is used.

Example:



Gross Method



Net Method
Sale of $10,000, term 2/10, n/30:

A/R

$10,000


A/R


$9,800


Sales

$10,000


Sales


$9,800

Payment of $4,000 A/Rs (net of discount of $80) received within 10 days:

Cash

$  3,920


Cash


$  3,920

Sales Discount
         80



A/R


$3,920


A/R

$  4,000

Payment of $6,000 received after discount period but within 30 days:

Cash

$  6,000


A/R


$     120

A/R


$  6,000

Sales Discount








Forfeited

$   120







Cash


$6,000








A/R


$6,000

If the net method is used, Sales Discount Forfeited are considered as another revenue item. 

If the gross method is used, Sales Discounts are reported as a deduction from sales in the income statement. Proper matching would dictate that a reasonable estimate of material amounts of expected discounts to be taken also should be charged against sales. 

Under the gross method, if a material amount of cash discounts is expected to be taken on outstanding A/Rs at year-end, and if this amount can be reasonably estimated, then adjusting entry is required to decrease net sales and to reduce A/Rs to the estimated amount collectible (e.g., allowance for sales discount).

To illustrate, assume that all $2 million of A/Rs are all on terms of 2/10, n/30, and recorded at gross. From past history, management expects 60% of these A/Rs to be collected within the discount period. There is no balance in the allowance account. The adjusting entry on December 31:

Sales Discounts ($2,000,000 * 2% * 60%)
$24,000


Allowance for Sales Discounts


$24,000

The sales discount is a contra account to sales (deduction of sales revenue). The allowance account is a contra account to A/Rs, and to reduces A/Rs to their net cash value. 

If there had been a $3,000 Crebit balance in the allowance account prior to this entry, the entry would have been made for $21,000 (Balance sheet approach).

Allowance for Sales Discount (Balance Sheet Approach)

	 
	Dr.
	Cr.

	12/31, 2000
	 
	$  3,000

	Adjusting entry
	
	  21,000

	Adjusted Balance at 12/31, 2000
	 
	$24,000 (estimation)


During next year, assuming that the estimates were correct, a summary entry records the receipts.

Allowance for Sales Discounts

$     24,000

Cash





  1,176,000


A/Rs






$1,200,000

Without this year end adjusting entry, the sales revenue in income statement and the A/Rs in the balance sheet are both overstated, which may be considered as providing misleading information to outside users (if the amount is material). 

Sales Returns and Allowances: 

Return privileges are frequently part of a comprehensive marketing program required to maintain competitiveness. Sales returns occur when merchandise is returned by the customer; sales allowances occur when a company gives a price reduction to a customer who is not completely satisfied with purchased merchandise but not actually return it. Similar to the concept of allowance for sales discount, company is required to have a adjusting entry at year end to recognize such sales returns and allowance, if the occurrence of sales returns and allowance is probable and the amount is material and can be reasonably estimated.

Example: Assume that total estimated sales returns and allowances relating to the closing receivables balance is $9,000, and there is no balance in the allowance for sales returns account. The adjusting entry would be:

Sales Returns and Allowances

$9,000


Allowance for Sales Returns and Allowances
$9,000

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts:

When credit is extended, some amount of uncollectible A/Rs is generally inevitable. It is therefore the Allowance for Doubtful Accounts should be recognized or adjusted at the end of each accounting period (Matching principle).

Balance Sheet Approach (use A/Rs, a balance sheet item, to estimate). 

Example: If our company estimates that $120,000 (e.g., 6% of outstanding A/Rs) of the $2,000,000 is A/Rs that will not be collected, and the existing balance in the allowance account is $12,000, the adjusting entry is: 

Bad Debt Expense


$108,000


Allowance for Doubtful Accounts


$108,000
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts (Balance Sheet Approach)

	 
	Dr.
	Cr.

	12/31, 2000
	 
	$  12,000

	Adjusting entry
	
	  108,000 (???)

	Adjusted Balance, 12/31, 2000
	 
	$120,000 (estimation)

	· $12,000 + ??? = $120,000

??? = $120,000 - $12,000 = $108,000
	
	


Income Statement Approach (use Credit Sales, an Income Statement item, to estimate).

Example: If our company estimates that $100,000 (e.g., 5% of current year credit sales $2,000,000) will not be collected and the existing balance in the allowance account is $12,000, the adjusting entry is: 

Bad Debt Expense


$100,000


Allowance for Doubtful Accounts


$100,000

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts (Income Statement Approach)

	 
	Dr.
	Cr.

	12/31, 2000
	 
	$  12,000

	Adjusting entry
	
	  100,000 (estimation)

	Adjusted Balance, 12/31, 2000
	 
	$112,000  

	$12,000 + $100,000 = $112,000 
	
	


It doesn't matter which method (i.e., income statement or balance sheet approach) is used, as long as the estimation process is systematic and rational then it is OK. Income statement approach normally uses credit sales in estimation. For example, says 3% of all credit sales of the accounting period. Balance sheet approach uses A/Rs in estimation. For example, simply use certain % of total A/Rs in estimation or assign different % to each A/R based on their age (i.e., aging method).

Write-Off: When information indicates that certain amount of A/Rs is deemed to be uncollectible (e.g., customer Mr. NiceGuy with a balance of $1,000 declared bankruptcy), the following entry is required:

Allowance for Doubtful Account
$1,000


A/Rs
(Mr. NiceGuy)



$1,000 

This write-off affects neither income nor the net amount of A/Rs.






Before Write-Off
After Write-Off

A/Rs




   $2,000,000

  $1,990,000

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
       (120,000)

      (119,000)
Net A/Rs



   $1,880,000

  $1,880,000
Recovery: When amounts are received on account after a write-off.

For example, Mr. NiceGuy pays $600 on account some time after the above write-off.

A/Rs (Mr. NiceGuy)

$600


Allowance for Doubtful Account
$600

Cash



$600

A/Rs (Mr. NiceGuy)


$600

Speeding Up Cash Flow From Receivables:

Credit Card Operations:

To avoid credit risk, most retailers prefer to get their money up front, and let the customers owe the credit card company.  Retailers are charged a fee, a percentage of total sales, for this privilege. 

Example: Assume that a merchant accumulates $2,000 in credit card sales. The credit card company deducts a commission of 6% fee. The entry would be:

Cash



$1,880

Credit Card Fees Expense
     120


Sales




$2,000

Loans Secured by A/Rs:

Some companies that short in cash may want to sell their A/Rs to finance company (i.e., factor) or use their A/Rs as collateral for a business loan. 

Example: On March 1. 2002, Howat Mills Ltd. provides (assigns) $700,000 of its accounts receivable to Provincial Bank as collateral for a $500,000 note. Howat Mills will continue to collect the accounts receivable; the account debtors are not notified of this arrangement. Provincial Bank assesses a finance charge of 1% of the accounts receivable and interest on the note of 12%. Settlement by Howat Mills to the bank is made monthly for cash collected on the receivables.

Howat Mills



Provincial Bank
Transfer of A/Rs and issuance of note on March 1, 2002:

Cash


$493,000

N/R


$500,000

Finance Fee

      7,000


Finance Revenue
    7,000


N/P


$500,000

Cash


493,000

Collection in March of $440,000 of accounts less cash discounts of $6,000. In addition, sales returns of $14,000 were received: 

Cash


$434,000

Sales Discount

      6,000


NO Entry

Sales Returns

    14,000


A/R


$454,000 (440,000 + 14,000)

Remitted March collections plus accrued interest to the Bank on April 1:

Interest Exp.

$    5,000


Cash

$439,000

N/P


  434,000



Int. Rev.
      5,000


Cash


$439,000


N/R

  434,000

Collection in April of the balance of accounts less $2,000 written off as uncollectible:

Cash


$244,000

Allowance for Doubtful    2,000


NO Entry


A/R


$246,000 (700,000 – 454,000) 

Remitted the balance due of $66,000 ($500,000 –434,000) on the note plus interest on May 1:

Int. Exp.

$       660


Cash

$  66,660

N/P


    66,000



Int. Rev

       660


Cash


66,660



N/R

  66,000

Without Recourse (Sale): When A/Rs are sold without recourse, the purchaser assumes the risk of collectibility and absorbs any credit losses. The transfer of A/Rs in a nonrecourse transaction is an outright sale of the A/Rs both in form (i.e., transfer of title) and substance (i.e., transfer of control). A/Rs is credited for the face value and the difference, reduced by any provision for probable adjustments (i.e., discounts, returns, and allowances), is recognized as Loss on Sale of A/Rs. 

Example: Crest Textiles Ltd. factors $500,000 of A/R with Commercial Factors, Inc., on a without recourse basis. The receivable records are transferred to Commercial Factors Inc., which will receive the collections. Commercial Factors assesses a finance fee of 3% of the amount of A/R and retains an amount equal to 5% of the A/R.




Crest Textiles



Commercial Factors
Cash


$460,000


A/Rs


$500,000


Due from Factor
    25,000 ($500,000 * 5%)

Due to Crest Textiles
 25,000

Loss on sale of A/R
    15,000 ($500,000 * 3%)

Financing Revenue
 15,000


A/Rs



$500,000

Cash

           460,000

Sale With Recourse (Contingent Liability): If A/Rs are sold with recourse, the seller guarantees payment to the purchaser in the event the debtor fails to pay.  In such a case, the accounting problem is to determine the substance of the agreement in circumstances where risk appears to stay with selling company. 

The CICA Emerging Issues Committee Provides guidance in EIC-9, Transfer of Receivables:

... for a transaction involving a transfer of receivables to be recognized as a sale, both of the following conditions should exist:

(1). the transferor has transferred the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the receivables; and

(2).  reasonable assurance exists regarding the measurement of the consideration derived from the transfer of the receivables.

Example: Sale with Recourse (Financial Components Approach): Assume the same information as in the example of Crest Textiles and Commercial Factors except that the receivables are sold with recourse basis. It is estimated that recourse obligation (contingent liability) has a fair value of $6,000.

To determine the loss on sale of A/R by Crest, the net proceeds from the sale are calculated:



Cash received


$460,000



Due from factor

    25,000
$485,000



Less Recourse obligation


      6,000


Net Proceeds




$479,000
The loss on sale of receivable is then calculated as follows:



Carrying book value

$500,000



Net proceeds


  479,000


Loss on sale of receivable
$  21,000




Crest Textiles





Cash


$460,000 

Due from Factor
    25,000  

Loss on sale of A/R
    21,000 


A/Rs




$500,000


Recourse Liability


      6,000





Commercial Factors

A/R


$500,000


Due to Crest Textiles


$  25,000


Finance Revenue


    15,000


Cash




  460,000

This example is different from a sale without recourse in that $6,000 bad expense and recourse liability are recognized on the date that A/Rs are transferred. It also is different because there will be final reckoning with the finance company. If the finance company collects exactly $485,000, then no money will change hands. If the finance company collects less, Crest will have to make up the difference. If finance company collects more, Crest will get a check. 

	Transfer of Receivables

(

	Has the transferor surrendered control (i.e., Does it meet three conditions?)

1. Transferred assets isolated from transferor.

2. Transferee has right to pledge or sell assets.

3. Transferor does not maintain control through repurchase agreement.

	Yes (
	NO (

	Is there continuing involvement?
	Record as secured borrowing:

1. Record liability.

2. Record interest expense.

	Yes (
	NO (
	

	Record as sale: (financial component approach)

1. Reduce receivables.

2. Recognize assets obtained and liabilities incurred.

3. Record gain or loss.
	Record as a sale:

1. Reduce receivables.

2. Record gain or loss.
	


* Materiality: Magnitude of an omission or misstatement of accounting data that misleads financial statement readers. If an item is material, it should be disclosed in the body of the financial statement or footnotes. Normally, a 5% test is used. However, if the omission would lead to significant consequence then the item should be disclosed even if it is less than 5%. For example, the violation of debt covenant resulted from the computation of current ratio. Report a net loss instead of a net income.

Notes Receivables: (Written promise)

Depending on the term of notes receivable (payable), a notes receivable (payable) is classified as short asset (liability) if its due date is within a year or an operating cycle (if longer). Otherwise, it would be classified as long term asset (liability).

Notes usually provide

1. Extended payment terms.

2. More security than sales invoices and other commercial trade documents.

3. A formal basis for charging interest. 

4. Negotiability.

N/Rs generally has term longer than that of A/Rs, therefore, interests is required. However, not all N/Rs state the interest explicitly and very often the stated interest rate is different from the market rate.

Interest-bearing N/Rs specify the interest rate to be applied to the face value of N/Rs in computing interest payments. Non-interest-bearing N/Rs do not state an interest rate but command interest through face values that exceed the principal amount.   

Notes whose cash payments are interest only except for final maturity payment.

Example: A 10%, $4,000, two-year N/Rs received from ABC that requires interest to be paid on its face value. The annual interest $400 is payable at the end of each year of the note term. Entries to record all related transactions are:

On the day of receiving N/R (says 1/1/2000).

N/Rs


$4,000


Sales (or Cash)

$4,000

12/31/2000

Cash


$   400


Interest Revenue

$   400

12/31/2001 (Due day)

Cash


$   400


Interest Revenue

$   400

Cash


$4,000


N/Rs



$4,000


N/Rs that require two equal annual amounts payable at the end of each year.

Example: Now assume that ABC example is requiring two equal annual amounts payable at the end of each year. 

Computation for the Ordinary Annuity:

$4,000 = Present value of an ordinary annuity = Payment * (P/A, 10%, 2)

$4,000 ( (P/A, 10%, 2) = Annual payment

$4,000 ( 1.73554 = $2,304.76 = Annual payment

Payment
Interest Component


Principle Component


      1
       $400 ($4,000 * 10%)


$1,904.76 ($2,304.76 - $400)

      2
       $209.52 ([($4,000 - $1,904.76) * 10%]
$2,095.24 ($2,304.76 -$209.52)

Entries:

On the day of receiving N/R (says 1/1/2000).

N/Rs


$4,000


Sales (or Cash)

$4,000

12/31/2000

Cash


$2,304.76


Interest Revenue

$   400


N/Rs



  1,904.76

12/31/2001 (Due day)

Cash


$2,304.76


Interest Revenue

$   209.52


N/Rs



  2,095.24


Non-interest-bearing N/Rs do not state an interest rate but command interest through face values that exceed the principal amount (implicit interest rate).

Example: A $4,840, two-year N/Rs received from ABC that requires no interest payment. The market rate of interest appropriate for this note is 10%. And the value of  goods sold is $4,000.

Entries: 

On the day of receiving N/R (says 1/1/2000).
N/Rs


$4,840


Sales



$4,000


Discount on N/Rs

     840

12/31/2000
Discount on N/Rs
$400 ($4,000 * 10%)


Interest Revenue

$400

12/31/2001 (Due day)

Cash 


$4,840

Discount on N/Rs
     440 ($4,400 * 10%)


Interest Revenue

$   440


N/Rs



  4,840

Different Market and Stated rate: Stated rate is unreasonable and less than the market rate.

Example: Fox Company, which sells specialized machinery and equipment, sold equipment on 1/1/2003, and received a two-year, $10,000 note with 3% stated interest rate from its customer, Hound Ltd. Interest is payable each 12/31 and the entire principal is payable 12/31/2004. The equipment does not have a ready market value. The market rate of interest appropriate for this note is 10%.

Computation of present value (rounded to the nearest dollar).

PV of maturity amount: $10,000 (P/F, 10%, 2) = $10,000 * (.82645) 
= $8,265

PV of the nominal interest payments: 

$10,000 * (3%) * (P/A, 10%, 2) = $300 * (1.73554) 

=     521

PV of the N/Rs at 10%






=$8,786
Entries:

1/1/2003







For Fox Company

N/Rs


$10,000






Discount on N/Rs

$1,214


Sales



  8,786






For Hound Ltd.

Equipment

$8,786






Discount on N/Ps
  1,214


N/Ps



$10,000





12/31/2003



Fox





Hound
Cash


$300


Interest Expense
$878

Discount on N/Rs
  578



Discount on N/Ps
$578


Interest Revenue

$878

Cash


  300

The balance sheet dated 12/31/2003, discloses net N/Rs and N/Ps of $9,364 [$10,000 - ($1,214 - $578)]. This amount is also the PV of the note on 1/12/004.

12/31/2004

 

Fox





Hound
Cash


$300


Interest Expense
$936

Discount on N/Rs
  636



Discount on N/P
$636


Interest Revenue
$936


Cash


  300

Cash


$10,000

N/Ps


$10,000


N/Rs


$10,000

Cash


$10,000

Notes Issued for Non-Cash Consideration. 

Example: Siever Company sold specialized equipment originally costing $20,000 with a net book value of $16,000 on 1/1/2002 to Bellow. The market value of the equipment was not readily determinable. Siever received a $5,000 down payment and a $10,000 4% notes payable in four equal annual installments starting 12/31/2002. The current market rate on notes of similar kind is 10%.

Computation of Ordinary Annuity payment:

$10,000 = A * (P/A, 4%, 4) = A * (3.62990)

$10,000 ( 3.62990 = $2,755 = Annual Payment
Computation of PV of Principal:

P = $2,755 * (P/A, 10%, 4) + $5,000 = ($2,755 * 3.16987) + $5,000 = $13,733 

Entries (Gross Method):

1/1/2002

Siever




Bellow
Cash


$  5,000

Equipment

$13,733

N/Rs


  10,000

Discount on N/P
    1,267

Accum. Depreciation
    4,0001


Cash


$  5,000

Loss on Sale

    2,2672


N/Ps


  10,000


Discount on N/Rs

$  1,2673

Equipment


  20,000

1. $20,000 (historical cost) - $16,000 (net book value) = $4,000 (Accum. Depreciation).

2. $16,000 (net book value) - $13,733 (Cash + PV of N/Rs) = $2,267

3. $10,000 (N/Rs face value) - $8,733 (PV of N/Rs) = $1,267

Impairment: N/R will only be an asset if the maker of the note pays on time. As default by customers is considered normal risk in doing business, an allowance for doubtful N/Rs must be established when appropriate (material, probable, estimable).

In calculating the extent of such an allowance, two things must be assessed:

1. The present value of the cash flows expected from the maker of the note over its remaining life.

2. The fair value of any collateral that the company can repossess; the collateral has to be valued at its fair market value.

For example, assume that a N/R has a book value of $4,800, including both principal and interest, and the customer encountered financial difficulties. As a result, the cash flows associated with the N/R are expected to have a present value of $1,200. A $3,600 loan loss or bad debt expense must be recognized, and an allowance for doubtful accounts is established.

Disclosure: Term and conditions of notes must be disclosed, including maturity date, amount and timing of future cash flows, collateral if any, and so on. Interest rates, both stated and effective, are also required disclosure. For N/Rs, exposure to credit risk must be disclosed, along with information about significant concentrations of credit risk. Fair value for this class of financial asset or financial liability must be disclosed.

Reconciliation of Bank and Book Cash Balances

For a bank, a depositor's cash balance is a liability, the amount the bank owes to its client. A bank debit memo describes a transaction from the bank's point of view - a decrease in their liability to the account holder. Therefore, a debit memo reports the amount and nature of a decrease in the firm's cash account. A credit memo indicates an increase in the cash account.

Bank reconciliation begins with the two cash balances and lists the differences between those balances and the true ending cash balance. The followings are the most common adjustments for bank reconciliation. 

Adjustments to the bank balance:

1. Cash on hand: Cash or checks received by firm but have not been deposited.

2. Deposits in transit: Deposits made at the end of period but have not been received or reported by bank.

3. Outstanding checks: Checks written by firm but have not been cashed.

4. Bank errors.
Adjustments to the Book Balance:

1. Accounts receivable collected by bank.  

2. Not Sufficient Funds (NSF) check. Check deposited and recorded as an increase in cash, but turn out to be a bounce check.

3. Bank service charges. Bank service charges that are automatically deducted at the end of each period. 

4. Book errors.

Illustration:

West Company

Information for Bank Reconciliation

31, August 2000

Bank Statement  

August 1 Balance







$32,000


Deposits recorded in August




$77,300

Checks cleared in August




 (71,240)

Accounts receivable collected (including $100 interest)
    1,100

NSF check, J. Fox, $300 plus $30 fee



      (330)

August service charge





      (200)
    6,630
August 31 balance







$38,630
Company's Cash Account

August 1 balance







$29,990

August deposits





  75,300

August disbursements





 (70,420)
    4,880

August 31 balance




 


$34,870
Additional information, end of July

1. Deposits in transit, $5,000, and checks outstanding, $8,000 (these two amounts were taken from the July bank reconciliation).
Additional information, end of August

1. Cash on hand (undeposited), $990. This amount will be deposited September 1. 

2. A check written by West in the amount of $240 for a repair bill in August is included in the cleared checks. West recorded the check for $420, the correct amount, debiting repair expense. The check was for the wrong amount. The payee will bill West for the remaining $180 due. 

3. The service charges of $200 include a $10 charge to a company named Weston Company that was charged to West Company in error.

Adjustments to the bank balance:

1. Cash on hand $990 should be added to the bank balance.

2. Deposits in transit:

Deposits in transit at the end of July


$  5,000

Deposits for August (per book)


  75,300
Total amount that could have been deposited

  80,300

Deposits shown in bank statement


 (77,300)

Deposits in transit at the end of August

$  3,000
Deposits in transit $3,000 should be added to the bank balance.

3. Outstanding checks:

Outstanding check at the end of July


$  8,000

Checks written during August (per book)

  70,240 (70420 –180)


Total checks that could have been cleared

  78,240


Checks cleared shown in bank statement

 (71,240)


Outstanding checks at the end of August

$  7,000
This $7,000 should be deducted from the bank balance.

4. Bank errors: The $10 error should be added to the bank balance.
Adjustments to the Book Balance:

1. Accounts receivable collected by bank: This $1,100 collected should be added to the book balance.
Cash




$1,100



A/R 






$1,000



Interest revenue




     100

2. NSF checks: This $300 NSF check from J. Fox should be deducted from the book balance.
A/R (J. Fox)



$   300



Cash






$   300

3. Bank service charge: This $190 service charge should be deducted from the book balance.

Miscellaneous Expense


$   190



Cash






$   190

4. Error in recording: This $180 error ($420 - $240) should be added back to the book balance. 

Cash




$   180



Accounts Payable




$   180

West Company

Bank Reconciliation

31, August 2000

Bank Statement  

Ending bank balance, August 31





$38,630


Additions:


Cash on hand





$     990


Deposits in transit, August 31



    3,000


Bank error re: service charge



         10

Deductions:


Checks outstanding, August 31


   (7,000)
   (3,000)
 Adjusted balance







$35,630
Company's Cash Account

Ending book balance, August 31





$34,870

Additions:


A/R collected by bank




$  1,000


Interest collected by bank



       100


Error in recording




       180

Deductions:


NSF check, J. Fox $300 plus $30 NSF fee

      (330)


Bank service charges




      (190)
       760
 Adjusted balance







$35,630
Chapter 8 Valuation of Inventories: A Cost Basis Approach

Classification:

Inventories are asset items held for sale in the ordinary course of business or goods that will be used or consumed in the production of goods to be sold.

Merchandise Firms: Merchandise Inventory.

Manufacturing Firms: Raw Materials, Work In Process, and Finished Goods Inventory.

Example:

Trucks are Finished Goods Inventory for Ford, Merchandise Inventory for Auto Dealers, and Property, Plant and Equipment for Trucking Companies.   

Management and Control: 

Business must keep optimal inventory level that minimizes inventory-carrying costs (e.g., financing, warehousing, and others) but without losing any business due to short of inventory on hand.

Periodic and Perpetual Inventory System:

1. Perpetual System: Continuous record of inventory changes (i.e., purchase or sale) is maintained in the inventory account.

2. Periodic System: No record for inventory changes is required during the period; inventory account would change only at the end of each accounting period.

3. Modified Perpetual Inventory System: Only changes in inventory quantities (not dollar amounts) are kept in a detailed inventory record.

Differences in General Journal Entries:

	Perpetual Inventory System
	Periodic Inventory System

	1. Beginning, Inventory, 100 units at $6: The Inventory account shows the inventory on hand of $600:

	2. Purchase 900 units at $6 each:

	   Inventory
	$5,400
	   Purchases
	$5,400

	          A/Ps
	$5,400
	           A/Ps
	$5,400

	3. Sales of 600 units at $12:

	   A/Rs
	$7,200
	   A/Rs
	$7,200

	          Sales
	$7,200
	          Sales
	$7,200

	
	
	
	

	   COGS
	$3,600
	No Entry Necessary

	          Inventory
	$3,600
	

	4. End-of-period entries for inventory accounts, 400 units at $6:

	No Entry Necessary


	    Inventory (Ending)
	$2,400

	
	    COGS
	$3,600

	
	           Purchases
	$5,400

	
	           Inventory (Beg.)
	$600

	5. Assume that at the end of reporting period, the physical count indicated $2,200 was actually on hand.

	    Inventory Over and Short
	$200
	    Inventory (Ending)
	$2,200

	            Inventory
	$200
	    COGS
	$3,800

	
	
	           Purchases
	$5,400

	
	
	           Inventory (Beg.)
	$600


Physical Goods Included in Inventory:
General Rules: Inventory is buyers when received, except:

1. FOB shipping point - Buyer's at time of delivery to common carrier.

2. Consignment Goods - Seller's, not Holder's.

3. Sales with buybacks - Seller's, not Buyer's.

4. Sales with high rates of return - Buyer's, if returns can be reasonably estimated.

5. Sales on installments - Buyer's, if collectibility can be reasonably estimated.

Effects of Inventory Errors:

1. Ending Inventory Misstated:

Example of Ending Inventory is Understated: Beginning inventory and purchase are recorded correctly, but some items are not included in ending inventory (e.g., goods on consignment; sale on terms of FOB destination; physical count error).

	Balance Sheet
	Income Statement

	Inventory (ending)
	Understated
	Cost of Goods Sold
	Overstated

	Retained Earnings
	Understated
	Net Income
	Understated

	Working Capital
	Understated
	
	

	Current Ratio
	Understated
	
	


Working capital and the current ratio are understated because a portion of the ending inventory is omitted. The effect of this error will be an understatement of net income in the current year and an overstatement of net income in the following year relative to the correct net income amounts.

	
	Incorrect Recording
	Correct Recording

	Revenues

Cost Of Goods Sold

     Beg. Inv.

     Purchase

     Goods Available for sale

     Less: Ending Inv.

     COGS

Gross Profit

Adminis. & Selling Expense

Net Income
	2002
	2003
	2002
	2003

	
	$100,000
	$100,000
	$100,000
	$100,000

	
	
	
	
	

	
	25,000
	20,000
	25,000
	30,000

	
	45,000
	60,000
	45,000
	60,000

	
	70,000
	80,000
	70,000
	90,000

	
	20,000
	40,000
	30,000
	40,000

	
	50,000
	40,000
	40,000
	50,000

	
	$50,000
	60,000
	60,000
	50,000

	
	40,000
	40,000
	40,000
	40,000

	
	$10,000
	$20,000
	$20,000
	$10,000

	
	Total Income for two years are $30,000


If the error were discovered in 2002 before the books were closed, the correcting entry in 2002 is:

Inventory


$10,000


Cost of Goods Sold


$10,000

If the error was not discovered until 2003, after the books were closed for 2002, the correcting entry in 2003 is:

Inventory


$10,000


Retained Earnings


$10,000

If the error was discovered after the books for 2003 were closed, no entry is required as the error is self-correcting over the two-year period.  

2. Purchases and Inventory Misstated

Example: Goods owned not recorded as a purchase and not counted in the ending inventory (e.g., purchase on FOB shipping point at year-end). Assuming this is a purchase on account.

	Balance Sheet
	Income Statement

	Inventory (ending)
	Understated
	Purchases
	Understated

	Retained Earnings
	No Effect
	Cost of Goods Sold
	No Effect

	Accounts Payable
	Understated
	Net Income
	No Effect

	Working Capital
	No Effect
	
	

	Current Ratio
	Overstated
	
	


Net income for the period is not affected by omitting such goods because purchases and ending inventory are both understated by the same amount-the error thereby offsetting itself in cost of goods sold. 

However, to correct the error in the year of the error before the books are closed, the following entries are needed:

	Periodic Method
	Perpetual Method

	Purchases
	$$$
	Inventory
	$$$

	     A/Ps
	$$$
	     A/Ps
	$$$

	Inventory
	$$$
	
	

	    COGS
	$$$
	
	


	
	Incorrect Recording
	Correct Recording

	Revenues

Cost Of Goods Sold

     Beg. Inv.

     Purchase

     Goods Available for sale

     Less: Ending Inv.

     COGS

Gross Profit

Adminis. & Selling Expense

Net Income
	2002

$100,000

25,000

35,000

60,000

20,000

40,000

$60,000

40,000

$20,000
	2002

$100,000

25,000

45,000

70,000

30,000

40,000

60,000

40,000

$20,000

	
	No Effect on Income Statement


Total working capital is unchanged, but the current ratio is overstated (if it was greater than 1 to 1) because of the omission of equal amounts from inventory and A/Ps.

Example: $40,000 purchase on account is not recorded in A/Ps account and ending inventory account, and other data are as follows: 

	Purchase & Ending Inventory Understated
	Purchase and Ending Inventory Correct

	Current Assets
	$120,000
	Current Assets
	$160,000

	Current Liabilities
	$40,000
	Current Liabilities
	$80,000

	Current Ratio
	300%
	Current Ratio
	200%


Costs Included in Inventory: The acquisition of inventories, like other assets, is generally accounted for on a basis of cost.

Purchase Discount:

If the gross method is used, purchase discounts should be treated as a reduction in the cost of purchases.

If the net method is used, purchase discounts lost should be considered a financial expense and reported in the I/S as Other Expense.

Product Costs are cost of inventory on hand. They are assets until the products are sold. They are those costs that attach to the inventory and are recorded in the inventory account. These costs are directly connected with bringing goods to the buyers and converting such goods to saleable condition. Such charges would include freight charges on goods purchased (e.g., freight in), nonrecoverable taxes, other direct costs of acquisition, and labor and production costs incurred in processing the goods up to the time of sale.

Period Costs are expenses that are not inventoriable; they are charged against sales revenue in the period in which the revenue is earned. 

Examples: sales employees' compensation, general and administrative expenses.

Manufacturing Costs are expenses associated with the manufacturing activities of the company. They consist of three categories: direct materials, direct labor, and factory overhead.

Variable Costing Versus Absorption Costing:

Fixed manufacturing overhead costs present a special problem in costing inventories because two concepts exist relative to the costs that attach to the product as it flows through the manufacturing process. 

In a Variable Costing system, all costs must be classified as variable or fixed. Variable costs are those that fluctuate in direct proportion to changes in output, and fixed costs are those that remain constant in spite of changes in output within the relevant range. Under Variable Costing, only costs that vary directly with production volume are charged to products as manufacturing takes place. Direct material, direct labor, and variable overhead are charged to WIP or finished Goods inventories and subsequently become part of COGS. Fixed overhead costs are considered period costs and are charged as expense to the current period.

Under an Absorption Costing system, all manufacturing costs, variable and fixed, direct and indirect, that are incurred in the factory or production process attach to product. Both fixed and variable overhead are charged to output and are allocated to cost of inventory, and eventually, COGS.

Cost Flow Assumptions:

There is no requirement that the cost flow assumption adopted in financial accounting be consistent with the physical movement of goods.

A suggested approach to selecting a method:

1. Identify possible objectives to be accomplished.

2. Know the different acceptable methods, their assumptions, and how they work.

3. Evaluate the advantages and disadvantages of different methods for achieving the objectives.

4. Choose the method appropriate to the situation and the objectives to be accomplished.

Objectives of Inventory Valuation:

1. To match expenses (COGS) realistically against revenue.

2. To report inventory on the balance sheet at a realistic amount.

3. To minimize income taxes

Specific Identification

Each inventory unit is specifically identifiable and/or is of high value. The inventory value and COGS determination is consistent with the physical flow.

Example for Cost Flow Assumptions: Average, LIFO, and FIFO 

	Date
	Units Purchased
	Units Sold or Issued
	Balance

	March 1
	Beginning Inventory

500 @ $3.80
	
	500 Units

	March 2
	1,500 @ $4.00
	
	2,000 Units

	March 15
	6,000 @ $4.40
	
	8,000 Units

	March 19
	
	4,000 Units
	4,000 Units

	March 30
	2,000 @ $4.75
	
	6,000 Units


Average Cost

Periodic System (Weighted Average): 

Step 1: At the end of period, compute the cost for total goods available for sale or used (i.e., beginning inventory + all purchase during the period).

Step 2: Determine the quantity for total goods available for sale or used (i.e., beginning inventory + all purchase during the period)

Step 3: Compute the weighted average cost per unit: 

Total cost of goods available (step 1) / Total quantity of goods available (step 2).

Step 4: Compute the ending inventory: The weighted average cost per unit (step 3) * quantity on hand at the end of period (after all necessary adjustments) = Ending Inventory

Step 5: Compute COGS: COGS = Cost for goods available (step 1) minus Ending Inventory (step 4)

	
	Date
	No. Units
	Unit Cost
	Total Cost

	Inventory
	March 1
	500
	$3.80
	$1,900

	Purchases
	March 2
	1,500
	$4.00
	6,000

	Purchases
	March 15
	6,000
	$4.40
	26,400

	Purchases
	March 30
	2,000
	$4.75
	9,500

	Total Goods Available
	
	10,000
	
	$43,800

	
	
	
	
	

	Weighted average cost per unit $43,800 / 10,000 units = $4.38

	
	
	
	
	

	Ending inventory:  6,000 units => Cost of ending inventory = $4.38 * 6,000 = $26,280

	
	
	
	
	

	Cost of goods available for sale
	$43,800

	Deducting ending inventory
	$26,280

	COGS
	$17,520


Perpetual System (Moving Average):

Step 1: Compute (update) the unit cost whenever you have a purchase.

Step 2: When there is a sale, compute the COGS (unit cost * the quantity sold).

Step 3: At the end of period determine the ending inventory after adjust for the difference between physical count and book balance by using inventory over and shortage account. 

	Date
	Purchased
	Sold or Issued
	Balance

	Mar. 1
	Beginning Inventory

500 @ $3.80
	
	500 @ $3.80 = $1,900 

	Mar. 2
	1,500@$4.00 = $6,000
	
	2,000 @ $3.95 = $7,900

	Mar. 15
	6,000@$4.40= $26,400
	
	8,000 @ $4.2875 = $34,300

	Mar. 19
	
	4,000 @ $4.2875 

=  $17,150
	4,000 @ $4.2875 = $26,650

	Mar. 30
	2,000@$4.75 = $9,500
	
	6,000 @ 4.4417 = $26,650

	
	
	
	

	Calculation of moving-average cost per unit:

	After Mar. 2 purchase: 

Cost of units available/Units available = [($500@$3.80) + (1,500@$4.00)] / (500 + 1,500)

= $7,900/2,000 = $3.95 per unit

	After Mar. 15 purchase:

Cost of units available/Units available = (7,900 + 6,000@$4.40) / (2,000 + 6,000)

= $34,300 / 8,000 = $4.2875 per unit

	After Mar. 30 purchase:

Cost of units available/Units available =

 [(4,000@$4.2875)+(2,000@$4.75)] / (4,000+2,000) = $26,650 / 6,000 = $4.4471 per unit


FIFO (First-In-First-Out): Periodic System

Step 1: At the end of period, determine the total goods available for sale or used in units and in dollar amounts for the period.

Step 2: Determine the end inventory quantity by physical count.

Step 3: Determine the quantity of total sale during the period (i.e., step 1 minus step 2).

Step 4: Compute the COGS by apply the unit cost on the First-In First-Out basis to the total units sold to the period.

Step 5: Determine the ending inventory: Total goods available for sale in dollar amounts minus COGS (step 1 minus step 4).

	Date
	Purchase
	Sold or Issued
	Balance

	Date
	Units Purchased
	Units Sold or Issued
	Balance

	March 1
	Beginning Inventory

500 @ $3.80
	
	500 Units

	March 2
	1,500 @ $4.00
	
	2,000 Units

	March 15
	6,000 @ $4.40
	
	8,000 Units

	March 19
	
	4,000 Units
	4,000 Units

	March 30
	2,000 @ $4.75
	
	6,000 Units

	Step 1: Total goods available for sale or used in units: 10,000 units

            Total goods available for sale or used in dollar amounts: $43,800

	Step 2: Determine the end inventory quantity by physical count: 6,000 units.

	Step 3: Determine the quantity of total sale during the period: 4,000 units.

	Step 4: Compute the COGS by apply the unit cost on the First-In First-Out basis to the total units sold to the period: 

(500 @ $3.80) + (1,500 @ $4.00) + (2,000 @ $4.40) = $16,700

	Step 5: Determine the ending inventory: $43,800 - $16,700 = $27,100 


FIFO Perpetual System:

Step 1: Keep detail information about unit cost and quantity for beginning inventory and every purchase.

Step 2: When there is a sale use the detail information from step1 to identify the appropriate unit cost applied (i.e., FIFO) and compute the COGS.

Step 3: At the end of period, use the detail information about inventory then determines the ending inventory.

	Date
	Purchase
	Sold or Issued
	Balance

	Mar. 1
	Beg. Inventory
	
	      500 @ $3.80 = $  1,900

	Mar. 2
	1,500@$4.00 

= $6,000
	
	      500 @ $3.80

+ 1,500 @ $4.00 = $  7,900                   

	Mar. 15
	6,000@$4.40

= $26,400
	
	      500 @ $3.80

+ 1,500 @ $4.00

+ 6,000 @ $4.40 = $34,300

	Mar. 19
	
	      500 @ $3.80

+ 1,500 @ $4.00

+ 2,000 @ $4.40 = $16,700
	   4,000 @ $4.40 = $17,600

	Mar. 30
	2,000@$4.75 

= $9,500
	
	   4,000 @ $4.40 

   2,000 @ $4.75 = $27,100


LIFO (Last-In-First-Out) Period System

Step 1: At the end of period, determine the total goods available for sale or used in units and in dollar amounts for the period.

Step 2: Determine the end inventory quantity by physical count.

Step 3: Determine the quantity of total sale during the period (i.e., step 1 minus step 2).

Step 4: Compute the COGS by apply the unit cost on the Last-In First-Out basis to the total units sold to the period.

Step 5: Determine the ending inventory: Total goods available for sale in dollar amounts minus COGS (step 1 minus step 4).

	Date
	Purchase
	Sold or Issued
	Balance

	Date
	Units Purchased
	Units Sold or Issued
	Balance

	March 1
	Beginning Inventory

500 @ $3.80
	
	500 Units

	March 2
	1,500 @ $4.00
	
	2,000 Units

	March 15
	6,000 @ $4.40
	
	8,000 Units

	March 19
	
	4,000 Units
	4,000 Units

	March 30
	2,000 @ $4.75
	
	6,000 Units

	Step 1: Total goods available for sale or used in units: 10,000 units

            Total goods available for sale or used in dollar amounts: $43,800

	Step 2: Determine the end inventory quantity by physical count: 6,000 units.

	Step 3: Determine the quantity of total sale during the period: 4,000 units.

	Step 4: Compute the COGS by apply the unit cost on the Last-In First-Out basis to the total units sold to the period: (2,000 @ $4.75) + (2,000 @ $4.40) = $18,300

	Step 5: Determine the ending inventory: $43,800 - $18,300 = $25,500 


LIFO Perpetual System:

Step 1: Keep detail information about unit cost and quantity for beginning inventory and every purchase.

Step 2: When there is a sale use the detail information from step1 to identify the appropriate unit cost applied (i.e., LIFO) and compute the COGS.

Step 3: At the end of period, use the detail information about inventory then determines the ending inventory.

	Date
	Purchase
	Sold or Issued
	Balance

	Mar. 1
	Beg. Inventory
	
	      500 @ $3.80 = $  1,900

	Mar. 2
	1,500@$4.00 

= $6,000
	
	      500 @ $3.80

+ 1,500 @ $4.00 = $  7,900                   

	Mar. 15
	6,000@$4.40

= $26,400
	
	      500 @ $3.80

+ 1,500 @ $4.00

+ 6,000 @ $4.40 = $34,300

	Mar. 19
	
	4,000 @ $4.40 = $17,600
	      500 @ $3.80

+ 1,500 @ $4.00

+ 2,000 @ $4.40 = $16,700

	Mar. 30
	2,000@$4.75 

= $9,500
	
	      500 @ $3.80

+ 1,500 @ $4.00

+ 2,000 @ $4.40

+ 2,000 @ $4.75 = $26,200


Evaluation and Choice of A Cost Flow Method

Major Advantages of LIFO

1. Matching: Under LIFO the most recent cost of goods purchased are better matched with revenue. 

2. Future Earnings Hedge: LIFO eliminates or substantially minimizes write-downs to market as a result of price decreases. The reason: since the most recent (higher cost) inventory is assumed to be sold first, inventory costed under FIFO is more vulnerable to price declines, which can reduce net income substantially. When prices are declining, however, this aspect of LIFO advantage becomes a disadvantage.

Major Disadvantages of LIFO

1. Reduced Earnings: For most products in general the price is rising over time, firms using LIFO would report a lower profit.

2. Inventory Distortion: Under LIFO the inventory carried on book may be acquired at a very long time ago, which may cause some distortion in financial reporting.

3. Physical Flows: In general, LIFO does not approximate real physical flow.

4. Inventory Liquidation: When all inventory carried on hand are liquidated, strange results (i.e., abnormal reported profit) can occur.

5. Poor Buying Habits: LIFO may cause poor buying habits. For example, if product price is falling, by purchasing unnecessary amount of inventory at the end of period a firm can raise the reported profit.

6. Not Acceptable for Tax Purposes.

7. Current Cost Income Not Measured: LIFO falls short of measuring current cost (replacement cost) income, though not as far short as FIFO.     

Comparison of the Effects of FIFO versus LIFO

	If Purchase Price are
	The Impact on Ending Inventory is
	The Impact on COGS is
	The Impact on Net Income and Retained Earnings is

	Rising
	FIFO > LIFO
	FIFO < LIFO
	FIFO > LIFO

	Falling
	FIFO < LIFO
	FIFO > LIFO
	FIFO < LIFO


Chapter 9: Inventories: Additional Valuation Issues

Lower of Cost and Market: The general rule is that the historical cost principle is abandoned when the asset's future utility (revenue-producing ability) is no longer as great as its original cost.

Two reasons to justify the departure from cost: (1) Users of financial reporting presume that current assets can be converted into at least as much cash as the value reported on balance sheet (representational faithfulness). (2) Matching requires that a loss of utility be charged against revenues in the period in which loss occurs (matching).

What is Market:

1. Replacement Cost generally means the amount that would be needed to acquire an equivalent item, by purchase or production, as would be incurred in the normal course of business operations.

2. Net Realized Value (NRV) is the item's estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less reasonably predictable future costs to complete and dispose of item. NRV is most commonly used method of determining market in Canada.
3. Net Realizable Value less a normal profit margin 
Example: Assume that a firm has unfinished inventory at December 31, 2002 with a cost of $760, a completed sales value of $1,000 and estimated cost of completion of $275, and a normal profit margin of 10% of sales. 

Inventory-Sales value






$1,000


Less: Estimated cost of completion and disposal

     275
Net Realizable Value






$   725


Less: Allowance for normal profit margin (10%)

     100
Net Realizable Value less a normal profit margin


$   625
	
	Inventory Value

12/31, 2002

Balance Sheet
	Profit (Loss) Recognized

	
	
	In 2002
	In 2003

	If Market = NRV 

    Cost =     $760

    Market = $725
	LCM = $725
	
	

	Effect on 2002 I/S
	
	($35)
	

	Effect on 2003 I/S

    Revenue
	
	
	$1,000

	    Exp: Carrying Value 12/31/02
	
	
	(725)

	            2003 Cost to complete and sell 
	
	
	(275)

	
	
	
	$0


	
	Inventory Value

12/31, 2002

Balance Sheet
	Profit (Loss) Recognized

	
	
	In 2002
	In 2003

	If Market =NRV Less a Normal Profit Margin

    Cost =     $760

    Market = $625
	LCM = $625
	
	

	Effect on 2002 I/S: $760 - $625
	
	($135)
	

	Effect on 2003 I/S

    Revenue
	
	
	$1,000

	    COGS: Carrying Value 12/31/02
	
	
	(625)

	            2003 Cost to complete and sell 
	
	
	(275)

	
	
	
	$100


How Lower of Cost and Market Works

1. Determine the cost using acceptable historical cost flow method.

2. Determine the market value to be used.

3. Compare the cost with the market.

Example:

	Food
	Replacement Cost
	Net Realizable Value

(NRV)
	NRV less a Normal Profit Margin

	Spinach
	$88,000
	$120,000
	$104,000

	Carrots
	90,000
	100,000
	70,000

	Cut Beans
	45,000
	40,000
	27,500

	Peas
	36,000
	72,000
	48,000

	Mixed Vegetables
	105,000
	92,000
	80,000


	Food
	Cost
	Net Realizable Value

(NRV)
	LCM

	Spinach
	$80,000
	$120,000
	$80,000

	Carrots
	100,000
	100,000
	100,000

	Cut Beans
	50,000
	40,000
	40,000

	Peas
	90,000
	72,000
	72,000

	Mixed Vegetables
	95,000
	92,000
	92,000

	Final Inventory Value
	$384,000


	Food
	Cost
	Replacement Cost
	NRV

(Ceiling)
	NRV less a Normal Profit Margin

(Floor)
	Designated

Market Value
	Final Inventory Value

	Spinach
	$80,000
	$88,000
	$120,000
	$104,000
	$104,000
	$80,000

	Carrots
	100,000
	90,000
	100,000
	70,000
	90,000
	90,000

	Cut Beans
	50,000
	45,000
	40,000
	27,500
	40,000
	40,000

	Peas
	90,000
	36,000
	72,000
	48,000
	48,000
	48,000

	Mixed Vegetables
	95,000
	105,000
	92,000
	80,000
	92,000
	92,000

	
	
	
	
	
	
	$350,000

	Final Inventory Value:

	Spinach: Cost ($80,000) is selected because it is lower than designated market value (NRV less a normal profit margin).

	Carrots: Designated market value (Replacement cost, $90,000) is selected because it is lower than the cost.

	Cut Beans: Designated market value (NRV, $40,000) is selected because it is lower than the cost.

	Peas: Designated market value (NRV less a normal profit margin, $48,000) is selected because it is lower than the cost.

	Mixed Vegetables: Designated market value (NRV, $92,000) is selected because it is lower than the cost.


Methods of Applying Lower of Cost and Market:

1. Item-by-item basis (most conservative).

2. Category basis.

3. Total inventory.

	
	
	
	Lower of Cost and Market By:

	
	Cost
	Market (NRV)
	Individual Items
	Major Categories
	Total Inventory

	Frozen
	
	
	
	
	

	Spinach
	$80,000
	$120,000
	$80,000
	
	

	Carrots
	100,000
	100,000
	100,000
	
	

	Cut Beans
	50,000
	40,000
	40,000
	
	

	Total Frozen
	$230,000
	$260,000
	
	$230,000
	

	Canned
	
	
	
	
	

	Peas
	90,000
	72,000
	72,000
	
	

	Mixed Vegetables
	95,000
	92,000
	92,000
	
	

	Total Canned
	$185,000
	$164,000
	
	$164,000
	

	Total
	$415,000
	$424,000
	$384,000
	$394,000
	$415,000


Recording Market Instead of Cost:

	Inventory
	At Cost
	At Market

	Beginning of the period
	$65,000
	$65,000

	End of Period
	$82,000
	$70,000


The following entries assume the use of periodic inventory system:

	Ending Inventory Recorded at Market (Direct Method)
	Ending Inventory Recorded at Cost and Reduced to Market (Allowance method)

	To close beginning inventory

	COGS (or Income Summary) 65,000

     Inventory                                      65,000
	COGS (or Income Summary) 65,000

     Inventory                                      65,000

	To record ending inventory

	Inventory                                 70,000

    COGS (or Income Summary)       70,000
	Inventory                                 82,000

    COGS (or Income Summary)       82,000

	To write down inventory to market

	No entry
	Loss Due to Market Decline 

  Of Inventory                          12,000

     Allowance for Reduce 

        Inventory to Market                 12,000


The following entries assume the use of perpetual inventory system:

	To write down inventory to market (no closing entries are required)

	Ending Inventory Recorded at Market (Direct Method)
	Ending Inventory Recorded at Cost and Reduced to Market (Allowance method)

	COGS (or Income Summary) 12,000

     Inventory                                      12,000
	Loss Due to Market Decline 

  Of Inventory                          12,000

     Allowance for Reduce 

        Inventory to Market                 12,000


Presentation in Income Statement:

Direct Method

Sale








$200,000

COGS







   Inventory, Jan. 1



$  65,000

   Purchases




  125,000
   Goods available for Sale or Used

  190,000

   Inventory, Dec. 31



    70,000
   COGS







  120,000
Gross Profit on Sales






$  80,000
Indirect Direct Method

Sale








$200,000

COGS







   Inventory, Jan. 1



$  65,000

   Purchases




  125,000
   Goods available for Sale or Used

  190,000

   Inventory, Dec. 31



    82,000
   COGS







  108,000
Gross Profit on Sales






$  92,000

Loss due to market decline of inventory (other expenses)

    12,000
 








$  80,000
	Date
	Inventory at Cost
	Inventory at Market
	Amount Required in Allowance Account
	Adjustment of Allowance Account Balance
	Effect on Net Income

	12/31/01
	$188,000
	$176,000
	$12,000 Cr.
	$12,000 increase
	Loss

	12/31/02
	194,000
	187,000
	$7,000 Cr.
	5,000 decrease
	Gain

	12/31/03
	173,000
	174,000
	0
	7,000 decrease
	Gain

	12/31/04
	182,000
	180,000
	2,000 Cr.
	2,000 increase
	Loss


Evaluation of the Lower of Cost and Market Rule

The lower of cost and market rule suffers some conceptual deficiencies:

1. Decreases in the asset's value and the charge to expense are recognized in the period in which the loss in utility occurs-not in the period of sale. On the other hand, increases in the asset's value are recognized only at the point of sale. This treatment is inconsistent and can lead to distortions in income data.

2. Applying the rule results in inconsistency because a company's inventory may be valued at cost in one year and at market in the next year.

3. Lower of cost and market values the balance sheet inventory conservatively, but its effect on the income statement may or may not be conservative. Net income for the yea in which the loss is taken is definitely lower; net income of the subsequent period may be higher than normal if the expected reduction in sales price does not materialize.

4. Applying the lower of cost and market rule uses a normal profit in determining inventory values. Since normal profit is an estimation figure based upon past experience and one that might not be attained in the future, it is not objective and presents an opportunity for income manipulation.

Other Valuation Issues

Valuation at Net Realizable Value (NRV):

Ending inventory can be reported at NRV (estimated selling price less estimated costs to complete and sell) even if that amount is above historical cost (book value). This exception to the normal recognition rule is permitted where (1) there is a controlled market with a quoted price applicable to all quantities and (2) no significant costs of disposal are involved.

Valuation Using Relative Sales Value

Allocation of lump sum price to varying units in a basket purchase. 

Example: Assume that Woodland Developer purchases land for $1 million that can be subdivided into 400 lots. These lots are of different sizes and shapes but can be roughly sorted into three groups graded A, B, and C. As lots are sold, the purchase cost of $1 million must be apportioned among the lots sold (for COGS) and those remaining on hand (for ending inventory). It is inappropriate to divide 400 lots into the total cost of $1 million to get a cost of $2,500 for each lot, because they vary in size, shape, and attractiveness.

	Lots
	# of Lots
	Sales Price per Lot
	Total Sales Value
	Relative Sales Value
	Total Cost
	Cost Allocated to Lots
	Cost per Lot

	A
	100
	$10,000
	$1,000,000
	100/250
	$1,000,000
	$   400,000
	$4,000

	B
	100
	6,000
	600,000
	60/250
	$1,000,000
	240,000
	2,400

	C
	200
	4,500
	900,000
	90/250
	$1,000,000
	360,000
	1,800

	
	
	
	$2,500,000
	
	
	$1,000,000
	


Determine the Cost Per Lot and the Gross Profit

	Lots
	# of Lots Sold
	Cost per Lot
	Cost of Land Sold
	Sales
	Gross Profit

	A
	77
	$4,000
	$308,000
	$   770,000
	$   462,000

	B
	80
	2,400
	192,000
	480,000
	288,000

	C
	100
	1,800
	180,000
	450,000
	270,000

	
	
	
	$680,000
	$1,700,000
	$1,020,000


The ending inventory is, therefore, $320,000 ($1,000,000 ( $680,000).

Purchase Commitments

Purchase commitments represent contracts for the purchase of inventory at a specified price in a future period. If the contract price is in excess of the market price and it is expected that losses will occur when the purchase is effected, the loss should be recognized in the period during which the market decline took place.

Example: On November, 2002 a purchase contracts for delivery in 2003 have been executed at a firm price of $640,000 and the materials’ market price on the company’s fiscal year-end of December 31, 2002 is $600,000, the following entry is made on December 31, 2002:


Loss on Purchase Contracts

$40,000



Accrued Liability on Purchase Contracts
$40,000


$640,000 (Contract price) less $600,000 (Market price on 12/31/2002) = $40,000

This Loss on Purchase Contracts is shown on the income statement under Other Expenses and Losses and the Accrued Liability on Purchase Contracts is reported as a liability on Balance Sheet. When goods are delivered in 2003, the entry (periodic system) is


Purchases




$600,000


Accrued Liability on Purchase Contracts
    40,000



Accounts payable




$640,000

In the case of multiple years purchase contract, if the price has partially or fully recovered before the inventory is received, the Accrued Liability on Purchase Contracts would be the reduced. A resulting gain (Recover of Loss) is then reported in the period of the price increase for the amount of partial or full recovery.

Example: Assume that in the above example, the delivery of materials is contracted on 2004 instead of in 2003 and the market price on December 31, 2003 is $650,000. Then the entry on December 31, 2003 is


 Accrued Liability on Purchase Contracts
    $40,000



Recover of Loss




$40,000



Gross Profit method

The gross profit method is used to estimate the amount of ending inventory. Its use is not appropriate for external financial reporting purpose; however, it can serve a useful purpose when an approximation of ending inventory is needed. Such approximations are sometimes required by auditors (e.g., as a check on a physical count) or when inventory and inventory records are destroyed by fire or some other catastrophe or when interim statements are being prepared.

Retail Inventory method

The retail inventory method is an inventory estimation based upon an observable pattern between cost and sales rice that exists in most retail concerns. This method requires that a record be kept of (a) the total cost of goods available for sale, (b) the total retail value of the goods available for sale, (c) the sales for the period. 

Basically, the retail method requires the determination of the cost to retail ratio of inventory available for sale. The ratio is calculated by dividing the cost of the goods available for sale by the retail value of goods available for sale. Its use is not appropriate for external financial reporting purpose.

ILLUSTRATION 9-1

THE GROSS PROFIT METHOD

There is one general approach to estimating the cost of ending inventory using the gross profit method.  It makes use of the percent of gross profit on sales.  If given the percent mark-up on cost, calculate the percent of gross profit on sales.

Assume that the following information is given:

Beginning inventory

$ 60,000

Purchases



90,000

Sales




100,000

Percent of mark-up on cost
25%  

You are to use the gross profit method to solve for the cost of ending inventory.

1.  Calculate percent of gross profit on sales (if not given):



Gross profit on Sales     
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2.  Calculate cost of goods sold:

Cost of Goods Sold
 = Sales 
[image: image3.wmf]´

 (100% - % Gross profit on Sales)

 = $100,000 
[image: image4.wmf]´

 (100% - 20%)

 = $100,000 
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 80%







 = $80,000

3.  Calculate estimated cost of ending inventory:

Cost of beginning inventory
$ 60,000

+
Cost of purchases                
+  90,000
Cost of goods available for sale
150,000

-
Cost of goods sold               
-  80,000


=
Estimated cost of ending inventory
$ 70,000

ILLUSTRATION 9-2 NUMERICAL EXAMPLE OF THE GROSS PROFIT AND CONVENTIONAL RETAIL INVENTORY METHODS
Assume that the following information is given:

	Beginning Inventory

At cost
$100,000

At Retail
125,000

Net Purchases

At Cost
$300,000

At Retail
360,000

Net Markups
15,000

Net Markdowns
10,000
	
	Net Sales at Retail
$280,000

Average Cost per Unit
$ 8.00

Average Selling Price per Unit
$10.00




GROSS PROFIT METHOD
ADVANCE \d6% Gross profit on sales  =ADVANCE \u6  Avg. Selling Price - Avg. Cost  ADVANCE \d6=  $2/$10  =  20%ADVANCE \u6
      Avg. Selling Price

Cost of goods sold        = $280,000 
[image: image6.wmf]´

 (100% - 20%) = $280,000 
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 80%





 = $224,000 (using gross profit on sales)

Ending inventory
         =  $100,000 + $300,000 - $224,000 = $176,000
CONVENTIONAL RETAIL METHOD
Ending inventory at retail  = $125,000 + $360,000 + $15,000 - $10,000 - $280,000

  = $210,000

ADVANCE \d6Cost-to-retail ratio             = ADVANCE \u6      $100,000 + $300,000         ADVANCE \d6 = ADVANCE \u6$400,000
                $125,000 + $360,000 + $15,000    $500,000

  = 80%

Ending inventory at lower of average cost and market (net realisable value less  normal profit) = 80% 
[image: image8.wmf]´

 $210,000 = $168,000

Conventional retail (average LCM):
	Purchase

At
Beginning



Returns
Freight-

Abnormal

Cost
Inventory
+
Purchases
-
Allowances,
+
in
-
Spoilage

Discounts

Purchase

At
Beginning



Returns,
Abnormal
Net

Retail
Inventory
+
Purchases
-
Allowances,
-
Spoilage
+
Mark-ups

Discounts




Acquisition and Disposition of Tangible Capital Assets

Tangible capital assets commonly referred to as property, plant, and equipment (PPE); plant assets; or fixed assets, include land, building structures (offices, factories, warehouses), and equipment (machinery, furniture, tools).

The major characteristics of tangible capital assets are:

1. They are acquired for use in operations and not for resale.

2. They are long-term in nature and usually subject to amortization.

3. They possess physical substance.

Accounting for acquisition of tangible capital assets
Historical cost is the usual basis for valuing property, plant, and equipment. Historical cost is measured by the cash or cash equivalent price of obtaining (e.g., purchase price and taxes) the asset and bring it to the location and condition (e.g., freight cost, setup and trial runs costs) necessary for its intended use.

Any related cost incurred after the asset acquisition, such as additions, improvements, or replacements, are added to the historical cost basis if they provide future service potential. Otherwise they are expensed immediately.

Components of cost

1. Cost of Land: All expenditures made to acquire land and ready it for use are included in the cost of the land.  Special Assessments for relatively permanent improvements such as pavements and drainage systems are included in the land account. Improvements with limited lives are recorded separately as Land Improvements and amortized over their estimated lives.

2. Cost of Buildings: All expenditures related directly to acquisition or construction is included.  This includes attorneys' and architects' fees, building permits, and all costs incurred beginning with excavation and ending with completion of the building.

3. Cost of Equipment: All expenditures incurred in acquiring the equipment and preparing it for use is included.  This includes freight charges, insurance while in transit, assembly costs, and the cost of conducting trial runs.

4. Self-Constructed Assets: Such assets may cause valuation problems because of the assignment of overhead.  The options are to assign a portion of all overheads, or allocate on a basis of cost production, or assign no fixed overhead.  The first option is preferred.

Interest costs during construction
1. Basic principle: Interest cost incurred during construction of fixed assets is part of the cost of acquiring the assets and preparing them for their intended use.  Like other acquisition costs, interest cost should be capitalised and amortized over the expected useful life of the assets involved.

2. Describe the computational steps involved in determining the amount of interest to be capitalised.
There are seven steps involved in the capitalisation of interest.

1.
Determine Which Assets Qualify for Capitalisation of Interest.
Qualifying assets include assets under construction for the firm's own use (such as buildings, machinery) and assets under construction for sale or lease as part of discrete projects (such as real estate projects).

2.
Determine the Capitalisation Period.
The capitalisation period begins when all three of the following conditions have been met:

a.
Expenditures for the asset have been made (i.e. the firm has made cash payments or has incurred debt for construction of the asset).

b.
Necessary activities to get the asset ready for its intended use are in progress (i.e. actual construction work is taking place).

c.
Interest cost of some kind is being incurred (i.e. the firm has some type of interest-bearing debt outstanding).  This debt need not be specific debt incurred on the asset.  It may be general debt such as bonds payable.  Therefore a company may capitalise interest cost even though the entire construction cost of the asset was paid for in cash, so long as the company has some type interest-bearing debt outstanding.

The capitalisation period ends when any one of the above three conditions is no longer being met.

3.
Calculate the Expenditures Made During the Capitalisation Period.
An expenditure may be financed either with cash payments or with the incurrence of debt.  Whenever an expenditure is made on a qualifying asset, the qualifying asset account is debited and either the cash account or a liability account is credited.

4.
Calculate Weighted-Average Accumulated Expenditures.

The amount of expenditures on qualifying assets usually varies consider​ably; it builds up or accumulates as additional expenditures are made during the year.

In order to determine the interest cost associated with these expenditures, it is necessary first to calculate the weighted-average accumulated expendi​tures. This figure is an "average" or "annualised" quantity representing the average amount of funds tied up in construction throughout the year.

5.
Calculate Avoidable Interest.

The purpose of this calculation is to estimate the amount of interest that theoretically could have been avoided if expenditures had not been made on qualifying assets.  These procedures must be followed before avoidable interest can be calculated:

a.
Identify the company's outstanding debt.  The debt is one of two types:

(1)
Specific debt—debt incurred specifically to finance the construction of assets.

(2)
General debt—all company debt excluding specific debt.

b.
Determine the appropriate interest rate to apply to the weighted-average accumulated expenditures.

(1)
Specific debt rate—the interest associated with specific debt.

(2)
General debt rate—a weighted-average of interest rates incurred on all other debt during the period.

c.
Calculate the avoidable interest.

(1)
Multiply the specific debt interest rate times the portion of the weighted-average accumulated expenditures that is less than or equal to the amount of specifically borrowed debt.

(2)
Multiply the weighted-average of interest rates incurred on all other general debt times the weighted-average accumulated expenditures that is greater than the debt incurred specifically to finance asset construction.

Now avoidable interest can be calculated.  Multiply each portion of each expenditure by the appropriate fraction of a year and also by the appli​cable interest rate.

6.
Calculate the Actual Interest Cost Incurred.
It would not be reasonable to capitalise more interest than the total amount of interest cost actually incurred.

7.
Determine the Interest Cost to be Capitalised.

The interest cost to be capitalised is the avoidable interest, or the actual interest, whichever is less.  The amount of interest capitalised is debited to an asset account along with the construction and other costs of acquiring the asset.  These costs are amortized over the asset's expected useful life.  The amount of interest cost expensed is written off immediately to Interest Expense.

Illustration of Interest Capitalization:

On November 1, 2001, Shalla Corp. contracted with Pfeifer Construction Co. Ltd. To have a building constructed for 1.4 millions on land costing $100,000. The land is acquired from the contractor and its purchase price is included in the first payment. Shalla made the following payments to the construction company during 2002:

	January 1
	March 1
	May 1
	December 31
	Total

	$210,000
	$300,000
	$540,000
	$450,000
	$1,500,000


Construction was completed and the building was ready for occupancy on December 31, 2002. Shalla had the following debt outstanding at December 31, 2002:

Specific Construction Debt:

1. 15% 3-year note to finance construction of the building dated December 31, 2001, with interest payable annually on December 31. $750,000.
Other Debt

1. 10%, 5-year note payable dated December 31, 1998, with interest payable annually December 31. $550,000.
2. 12%, 10-year bonds issued December 31, 1997, with interest payable annually on December 31. $600,000.
Compute the Weighted-average expenditures during 2002:

	Expenditures
	Current Year Capitalization Period
	Weighted-average Accumulated Expenditures

	Date
	Amount
	
	

	January 1
	$210,000
	12/12
	$210,000

	March 1
	$300,000
	10/12
	$250,000

	May 1
	$540,000
	8/12
	$360,000

	December 31
	$450,000
	0
	0

	
	$1,500,000
	
	$820,000


Compute the Weighted-average interest rate:

	Debt
	Principal
	Interest

	10%, 5-year note
	$550,000
	$55,000

	12%, 10-year bonds
	$600,000
	$72,000

	Weighted average interest rate = Total interest / Total Principal 

= $127,000 / $1,150,000 = 11.04%


Compute the Avoidable interest:

	Weighted-average Accumulated Expenditures
	Interest Rate
	Avoidable Interest

	$750,000
	15%
	$112,500

	$70,000
	11.04%
	$7,728

	$820,000
	
	$120,228


Compute the Actual Interest:

	Debt
	Principal and Interest Rate
	Interest

	Construction note
	$750,000 * 15%
	$112,500

	5-year note
	$550,000 * 10%
	$55,000

	10-year bonds
	$600,000 * 12%
	$72,000

	Actual Interest
	$239,500


The interest cost to be capitalised is the lesser of $120,228 (avoidable interest) and $239,500 (actual interest), which is $120,228.

Related Journal entries:

January 1:


Land 


$100,000


Building 

$110,000



Cash



$210,000

March 1:


Building 

$300,000



Cash



$300,000

May 1:


Building

$540,000



Cash



$540,000

December 31:


Building 

$450,000



Cash



$450,000


Interest Expense
$239,500



Cash



$239,500


Building

$120,228



Interest Expense


$120,228

Means of acquisition and valuation
1. Cash Discounts: The asset should be recorded at the current cash equivalent price to acquire the asset at the date of acquisition.  It is preferable to exclude the cash discount from the recorded cost of the asset, whether the discount is taken or not.  Any discount not taken should be recorded as an expense.

2. Deferred Payment Contracts: Assets purchased on long-term credit contracts should be accounted for at the present value of the consideration exchanged.  When no interest rate is stated, or if the specified rate is unreasonable, an appropriate rate should be imputed.   

Example: A Company purchases a specially built robot spray painter for its production line by issuing a $100,000, 5-year, noninterest-bearing note to the seller. The Company will pay off the note in five $20,000 installments made at the end of each year. Assuming the prevailing market rate for obligations of this nature is 10%.

At date of purchase

Equipment

$75,816

Discount on N/P
  24,184


N/P



$100,000

Present value of note = $20,000 ( 3.79079 (tableA-4) = $75,816


At the end of first year


Interest Expense
$  7,582



Discount on N/P

$  7,582


N/P 


$20,000



Cash



$20,000


	
	Cash Payment
	Interest Expense (10%)
	Reduction in Principal
	Carrying Value

	Beg. of 1st year
	
	
	
	$75,816

	End of 1st year
	$20,000
	$7,582
	$12,418
	$63,398

	End of 2nd year
	$20,000
	$6,340
	$13,660
	$49,738

	End of 3rd year
	$20,000
	$4,974
	$15,026
	$34,712

	End of 4th year
	$20,000
	$3,471
	$16,529
	$18,183

	End of 5th year
	$20,000
	$1,817
	$18,183
	$0


3. Lump Sum Purchases: Total cost should be allocated on the basis of relative market values.  Insurance appraisals, property tax assess​ments, or independent appraisals may be used as indicators of relative market values.

Example: Assume that a company decides to purchase several assets of another company for a total $80,000. The assets purchased are as follows (Proportional Method):

	
	Seller's Book Value
	Fair Market Value

	Inventory
	$30,000
	$25,000

	Land
	$20,000
	$25,000

	Building
	$35,000
	$50,000

	
	$85,000
	$100,000


The $80,000 purchase price would be allocated based on the relative fair market values (Book Values are irrelevant for Buyer)

	
	
	Buyer's Asset Cost

	Inventory
	($25,000 ( $100,000) ( $80,000
	$20,000

	Land
	($25,000 ( $100,000) ( $80,000
	$20,000

	Building
	($50,000 ( $100,000) ( $80,000
	$40,000



Inventory

$20,000


Land 


$20,000


Building

$40,000




Cash


$80,000

4. Issuance of Shares: Market value of shares issued is used as an indication of the cost of the property acquired.

When shares are issued for nonmonetary assets, the general rule to be applied is the cost principle, which states that the transaction should be recorded at the fair market value of what is given up, or what is acquired if the latter is clearer.

Example: 10,000 common shares are issued for an asset under various circumstances:

Case 1: The fair market value for the asset is not readily determinable, but the fair market value for the shares is known to be $140,000.

Asset





$140,000



Common Shares




$140,000
Case 2: The fair market value for the shares is not readily determinable, but the fair value for the asset is known to be $150,000.


Asset





$150,000



Common Shares




$150,000

Case 3: The fair market values for both the shares and the asset are not readily determinable. An independent consultant values the asset at $125,000, and the board of directors agrees with that valuation.

Asset





$125,000



Common Shares




$125,000

Watered stock refers to overvalued shareholders' equity resulting from inflated asset value. In such a case, the water can be eliminated by writing down the overvalued assets.

Secret reserves are created, when the exchanged assets are undervalued.

5. Acquisition and disposition by donation or gift:

a. Acquisition: It is reasonable to record a donated asset at its fair market value even though its cost is zero or very low.  Discuss the merits of recording the offsetting credit as either:

(1). Donated Capital (a contributed surplus account)

(2). A revenue account that is reported immediately.

(3). A revenue account that is deferred and reported over the period of asset use.

(4). In the case of a non-cash donation, a reduction in the cost of the asset.

In practice cash donations are credited immediately to revenue whereas non-cash donations are credited to Donated Capital.

b. Disposition: When a fixed asset is donated (given away or contri​buted to charity), two types of income statement accounts may be affected.

(1). Donation expense should be recorded at the fair market value of the donated asset.

(2). A gain or loss should be recorded for the difference between the fair market value and the net book value of the donated asset.

Accounting for Contributions of Assets

Capital Approach: Capitalize the assets received (use the fair value) and credit Contributed Surplus-Donated Capital.

Example: A firm accepted the donation of a land parcel with a fair value of $150,000 from the city of Winnipeg.

Entry:



Land


$150,000




Contributed Surplus-Donated Capital

$150,000

Income Approach: Requires the amount received to be deferred and recognized over the period that the related assets are employed. This is accomplished by either reducing the asset cost and future amortization by the amount of government assistance received, or recording the amount received as a deferred credit, amortizing it to revenue over the life of the related asset.

Example: A firm receives a grant of $225,000 from the federal government to upgrade its sewage treatment facility (useful life 10 years).

Revenue Method:

Cash



$225,000




Revenue


$225,000

Cost Reduction Method:

Cash



$225,000




Equipment


$225,000

Deferred Method:


Cash



$225,000




Deferred Revenue-Grants

$225,000


Deferred Revenue-Grants
$  22,500




Revenue-Grants


$  22,500

Example: Donate an asset with market value of $120,000 (book value of $100,000).


Donation Expense

$120,000



Asset




$100,000



Gain on Disposal Asset

$  20,000

6. Exchanges of property, plant and equipment (non-monetary assets).  In presenting this topic it is important to emphasize both the basic accounting procedures and the basic accounting principles involved.

a. Basic Accounting Procedures.

(1). Calculate the net book value of the old asset.

(2). Calculate the realised gain or loss.

(3). Using the requirements of Section 3830 of the CICA Handbook, determine the amount of gain or loss to be recognised.

(4). Prepare the journal entry to record the exchange.  Remind students to ensure that their entry balances; this is fre​quently overlooked.

b. Basic Accounting Principles.

(1). Amortization is a Process of Cost Allocation and not of Valuation: Because the fair market value of the old asset is seldom equal to its net book value at the date of exchange, a gain or loss may be realised.  This occurs because amortization is a process of cost allocation and not a process of valuation.

(2). Completion of the Earnings Process: When a fixed asset is abandoned, exchanged or sold, the earnings process related to that asset is clearly terminated.  Therefore, gains and losses realised on the exchange of dissimilar assets are recorded. However, when a fixed asset is exchanged for a similar asset the earnings process related to the old asset is not considered to be complete.  Therefore, a gain should not be recoded and only losses are recognised.

(3). Fair Value: Ordinarily accounting for the exchange of non-monetary assets should be based on the fair market value of the assets given up or the fair market value of the asset received, whichever is more clearly evident.

7. Non-monetary Exchange of Assets:

Dissimilar Assets: The fair market value concept is used in determining the transaction value.

Example: Cathay Computers needs a new delivery van, and it contracts with Porter Motors, which is in the market for new computer hardware, to exchange computers for a van. Cathay orders in the required equipment at a cost of $20,000 (retail value of $24,000) and installs it at Porter Motors. The auto dealership has a suitable van on the lot with a cost of $18,000 and a fair value of $25,000. They agree to exchange the assets, with Cathay paying $1,000 cash to Porter.

Cathay Computer


Delivery Van

$25,000




Sales



$24,000




Cash


    1,000


COGS



$20,000




Inventory


$20,000

Porter Motors


Computers


$24,000


Cash



    1,000




Sales


$25,000


COGS



$18,000




Inventory


$18,000

Similar Assets:

The earnings process is considered not completed for exchange of similar assets, and no gain should be recognized. However, the exchange of similar assets and a loss result, the loss should be recognized immediately.

Example: Assume Davis Rent-A-Car has an automobile rental fleet consisting primarily Ford Motor company products. Davis want to increase the variety of automobiles in its rental fleet by adding numerous of GM models. Davis arranges with Ned Rent-A-Car to exchange a group of Ford automobiles with a fair value of $160,000 and a book value of $135,000 (Cost $150,000 less accumulated depreciation $15,000) for a number of GM automobiles with a fair value of $170,000; Davis pays $10,000 in cash in addition to the Ford automobiles exchanged.

Computation of gain to Davis:

Fair value of Ford automobiles exchanged

$160,000

Book value of Ford automobiles exchanged
$135,000
Total gain (unrecognized)


$  25,000
The cost of the GM automobiles acquired can be determined by:

Approach 1:


Fair value of GM automobiles

$170,000


Less: Gains deferred


    25,000

Cost of GM automobiles

$145,000
Approach 2:


Book value of Ford automobiles

$135,000


Add: cash paid


    10,000

Cost of GM automobiles

$145,000
The entry by Davis to record this transaction is:


Automobiles (GM)

$145,000


Accumulated Depreciation (Ford)
    15,000



Automobiles (Ford)


$150,000



Cash



    10,000

Exchange with Significant Monetary Component:

Often when assets are exchanged or traded in, the transaction includes the payment or receipt of a significant amount of cash or other monetary asset (i.e., boot). Where the monetary component exceeds 10% of the fair value of the consideration given up or received, the transaction is not considered a non-monetary exchange. In the situation, the general standard for determining cost applies, and the resulting gain or loss is recognized immediately.

Example: Assume Interprovincial Transportation Company exchanged a number of used trucks plus cash for vacant land that might be used for future plant site. The net book value of the trucks is $42,000 (cost $64,000 less $22,000 accumulated depreciation). The estimated fair value for the trucks is $49,000. In addition to the trucks, Interprovincial also pay $17,000 cash for the exchange. 

Since $17,000 is more than 10% of the fair value of the consideration (i.e., $66,000), this transaction is not considered a non-monetary exchange. It does not matter whether the assets exchanged are similar or dissimilar.

The cost of the land to Interprovincial is $66,000:


Fair value of assets given up:



Fair value of trucks exchanged

$49,000



Cash paid



  17,000



Cost of land


$66,000

The journal entry to record the exchange transaction must (1) take the assets given up off the books at their book value, (2) record the new asset at its cost, and (3) recognize the gain or loss of this transaction.


Land




$66,000


Accumulated Depreciation (trucks)

  22,000



Trucks





$64,000



Cash




 
17,000



Gain on disposal of trucks



7,000

8. Trade-ins:

Often companies will trade in existing assets for newer assets of a similar type.

Example: Information Processing, Inc. trades its used machine for a new model. The machine given up has a book value of $8,000 (cost $12,000 less $4,000 accumulated depreciation) and a fair value of $6,000. It is traded for a new model with a list price of $16,000. In negotiation with the seller, a trade-in allowance of $9,000 is finally agreed on for the used machine. The cash payment that must be made for the new asset and the cost of the new machine are calculated as follows:

List price of new machine



$16,000

Less: Trade-in allowance for used machine
    9,000
Cash Payment due


    7,000

Fair value of used machine


    6,000
Cost of new machine-Fair value 


$13,000
Journal entry:


Equipment (new)


$13,000


Accumulated Depreciation-Equipment

4,000


Loss on disposal of equipment


2,000



Equipment (old)




$12,000



Cash





7,000

9. Investment Tax Credit
The investment Tax Credit or ITC is one incentive where tax legislation permits enterprises to deduct a specified percentage of the cost of eligible new capital assets directly from their income tax liability.

Illustration: Suppose that in 2002, an enterprise purchases an asset for $100,000 that qualified for a 10% investment tax credit. If the company has a tax liability of $30,000 before the credit, its final tax is:


Tax payable for 2002 prior to ITC


$30,000


Less ITC ($100,000 ( 10%)



  10,000
Final Tax Liability




$20,000
10. Costs Subsequent to Acquisition
In general, costs incurred to achieve greater future benefits should be capitalized, whereas expenditures that simply maintain a given level of services should be expensed.

In order for costs to be capitalized, one of the three conditions must be present:

(1). The Asset's useful life must be increased.

(2). The quantity of units produced from the asset must be increased.

(3). The quality of the units produced must be enhanced.

Major types of expenditures:

(1) Additions: Increase or extension of existing assets. 

(2) Improvements and replacements: 

Improvement (i.e., betterment) and replacements are substitutions of one asset for another. What is the difference between an improvement and a replacement? An improvement is the substitution of a better asset for the one currently used (say, a concrete floor for a wooden floor). A replacement, on the other hand, is the substitution of a similar asset (a wooden floor for a wooden floor).

(A) Substitution approach is used when the old asset's carrying value is available (Replacement).

Example: A firm decides to replace its plumping pipes. A plumber suggests that in place of the cast iron pipes and copper tubing, a newly developed plastic tubing be used. The old pipe and tubing have a book value of $15,000  (cost $150,000, and adjusted accumulated amortization of $135,000), and a scrap value of $1,000. The new plastic tubing system has a cost of $125,000. Assuming that the firm pays $124,000 for the new tubing after exchange the old tubing,


Plumbing System


$125,000


Accumulated Amortization

  135,000


Loss on Disposal of Plant Asset
    14,000



Cash





$124,000



Plumbing System (Old)


  150,000 

(B) Capitalizing the new cost if the old asset's carrying value is not available (Improvement; when the quantity of products produced increase or the quality of products produced improved). 


New Asset



$$$$$



Cash





$$$$$

(C) Charging to Accumulated Amortization if the old asset's carrying value is not available (Replacement; when useful life extended).


Accumulated Amortization-Old Asset
$$$



Cash






$$$

(3) Rearrangement and reinstallation: Movement of assets from one location to another.

(4) Repairs: Ordinary repairs are expenditures made to maintain plant assets in operating condition; they are charged to expense immediately as they are incurred. If a major repair, such as overhaul, occurs, several periods will benefit and the cost could be handled as an addition, improvement, or replacement.

Summary of Costs Subsequent to Acquisition

	Type of Expenditure
	Normal Accounting Treatment

	Additions
	Capitalize cost of addition to asset account.

	Improvements and Replacements
	(a) Carrying value known: Remove cost of accumulated amortization on old asset, recognizing any gain or loss. Capitalize cost of improvement/replacement.
(b) Carrying value unknown: 

1. If useful life of the asset is extended, debit accumulated amortization account.

2. If the quality or quantity of the asset’s productivity is increased, debit asset account. 



	Rearrangement and Reinstallation
	(a) If the original cost is known, account for cost of rearrangement/reinstallation as a replacement (carrying value known).

(b)  If the original installation cost is unknown and rearrangement/reinstallation cost is material in amount and benefits future periods, capitalize as an asset.

(c) If original installation cost is unknown and rearrangement/reinstallation is not material or future benefit is questionable, expense the cost when incurred.

	Repairs
	(a) Ordinary: Expense cost of repairs when incurred.

(b) Major: As appropriate, treat as an addition, improvement, or replacement.


Sale of Tangible Capital Asset

Example: Assume that amortization on a machine costing $18,000 has been recorded for 9 years at the rate of $1,200 per year. If the machine is sold in the middle of tenth year for $7,000, the entry to record amortization to the sale date is:

Always update the amortization first.

Amortization Expense


$600 



Accumulated Amortization-Machinery

$600

Then close accounts related to this machine (i.e., machine and accumulated amortization) and recognize gain or loss.


Cash




$  7,000


Accumulated Amortization-Machine
  11,400



Machinery 





$18,000



Gain on Disposal of machinery


       400

Involuntary Conversion 

Gain (or loss) of involuntary conversion is often classified as extraordinary item in the income statement.

Example: Assume a company was forced by government to sell a plant located on company property that stood directly in the path of a planned major highway. In settlement, the company received $500,000, the original cost of the plant is $300,000 and its accumulated amortization is $200,000 (adjusted) and the land cost is $100,000. 


Cash





$500,000


Accumulated Amortization-plant

  200,000



Plant






$300,000



Land 






  100,000



Gain on Expropriation of land and plant

  300,000

Donation of Capital Assets

When a company donates or contributes a nonmonetary asset, the donation amount should be recorded as an expense at the donated asset's fair value. Gain or loss (i.e., the difference between fair market value and book value) should be recognized.

Example: Assume that Kline Industries donates land that cost $30,000 and a small building located on the property that cost $95,000 with accumulated amortization of $45,000 (adjusted) to the City of Hamilton for a city park. The fair market value for the land and building together is estimated as $110,000.


Donation Expense



$110,000


Accumulated Amortization-Building

    45,000



Building





$95,000



Land






  30,000


Gain on Disposal of Land and Building

  30,000

Miscellaneous Problems:

If an asset is scrapped or abandoned without any cash recovery, a loss should be recognized equal to the net carrying book value. If scrap value exists, the gain or loss that results is the difference between the asset's scrap value and its net book value. If an asset still can be used even though it is fully amortized, it may be kept on the book at historical cost less its related amortization, or the asset may be carried at scrap value.

Amortization, Impairments, and Depletion

A.
Amortization:  Procedures to indicate that the service potential of a capital asset has declined.  Depreciation is the term frequently used to indicate amortization of tangible capital assets other than for natural resources (depletion). Amortization and depletion are discussed in this chapter.  Amortization related to intangibles is discussed in Chapter 13.
1.
Amortization is a process of cost allocation in a systematic and rational manner and is not a process of valuation.
2.
Factors to be considered in the amortization process:
a.
Depreciable base (amortizable amount).
b.
Useful life.  Describe the difference between the physical life of an asset and its useful life (service life).
c.
Selecting a method of cost apportionment (amortization).
3.
Depreciable Base:  Function of original cost and residual (salvage) value.
4.
Useful Life:  Depends on two factors.
a.
Physical factors such as wear and tear.
b.
Economic factors such as inadequacy, supersession, and obsolescence.
B.
Methods of Cost Apportionment.
1.
Straight-line Method:  This method is widely used because of its simplicity in charging a constant amount each period.  Assumes the asset's economic usefulness is the same each year and that repair and maintenance are essentially the same each year.
2.
Activity Methods:  Assumes that amortization is a function of use and the life of the asset is expressed in terms of either the output it provides (e.g., units produced) or the input available (e.g., number of hours it works).  An estimate of units of output or service units is often difficult to make.  This method is not appropriate when amortization is a function of the passage of time instead of activity.

3.
Decreasing Charge Methods:  Justified on the grounds that, since the asset is more efficient in the earlier years, more amortization should be charged in those years.
a)
Declining Balance Method.  The declining balance rate remains constant and is applied to a declining book value.  In this method, residual value is ignored in the calculation, but the asset may not be amortized below residual value.


b)
Sum-of-the-year's-digit-method uses the sum-of-the-year's-digits of useful life of the asset as its denominator, and each year, starting with the last year of useful life, as the numerator. This results in a decreasing amortization charge each year.

4.
Increasing charge methods:  provide for lower amortization charges in the early years and higher amounts in the later years of an asset's life. The most common application of this pattern is the sinking fund method.
5.
Selection of an amortization method.
a.
Conceptually the method that most fairly reflects net income should be chosen (matching expense against benefits in a rational manner).
b.
Practically, the method chosen may be the one that minimizes bookkeeping expenses or satisfies other purposes (e.g., impact on ratios or amounts that are important in contractual arrangements such as debt covenants and management compensation plans).
C.
Special Amortization Methods.
1.
Group and Composite Methods:  Group methods are used for similar assets.  Composite methods are used for dissimilar assets.  When an asset is retired, any difference between the proceeds and the cost is charged against accumulated amortization (i.e., not to a loss or gain).
2.
Hybrid and Combination Methods:  Companies are free to employ tailor-made methods. In the production variable method, used primarily in the steel industry, amortization is the straight-line amount adjusted for production.
D.
Special Amortization Problems.
1.
Partial Periods:  Many methods are applied and are acceptable as long as they are used consistently.
2.
Amortization and Replacement:  Amortization does not provide funds (cash) for replacements.
3.
Revision of estimates:  Covered in Section 1506 of the CICA Handbook. Changes in estimates of residual value or useful life are shown in current and prospective periods.  They are treated as changes in estimates.

4.
Impairment of value (write-downs): Impairment occurs when the expected future net undiscounted cash flow from an asset is less than the asset's carrying value.  Given this, the difference is recognised by a write-down entry, which debits a Loss account and probably credits Accumulated Amortization (crediting the Asset account directly is possible but would result in not preserving the original cost in the accounts).  Once written down, there is no reversal if there is a subsequent increase in the net recoverable amount.
E.
Depletion:  Used for natural resources that are physically consumed over the period of use, such as petroleum, minerals and timber.
1.
Establishment of depletion base.  The costs of natural resources are divided into:
a.
Acquisition costs.
b.
Exploration costs:  a successful efforts or full costs approach may be followed.  Discuss the conceptual merits of these approaches.
c.
Development costs, which include both tangible equipment, not included in the depletion base and intangible development costs, which are included in the depletion base.
2.
Write-off of Resource Cost.  Normally the unit of production method is used.

3.
Status of oil and gas industry.  Both the successful efforts method and the full-cost method are acceptable in Canada.
4.
Special Problems in depletion accounting.
a.
Estimating recoverable reserves.
b.
Future removal and site restoration costs.
c.
Liquidating dividends.
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